UNIFORM UNDISTORTION FROM BARYCENTRES, AND APPLICATIONS TO HIERARCHICALLY HYPERBOLIC GROUPS

CAROLYN ABBOTT, MARK HAGEN, HARRY PETYT, AND ABDUL ZALLOUM

ABSTRACT. We show that infinite cyclic subgroups of groups acting uniformly metrically properly on injective metric spaces are uniformly undistorted. In the special case of hierarchically hyperbolic groups, we use this to study translation lengths for actions on the associated hyperbolic spaces. Then we use quasimorphisms to produce examples where these latter results are sharp.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Translation discreteness in Cayley graphs	2
1.2. Non-proper actions arising from hierarchical hyperbolicity	3
1.3. Questions	5
1.4. Outline of the paper	6
2. Barycentres and translation lengths	6
3. Background on hierarchical hyperbolicity	12
4. Proof of Theorem 1.5	14
Step 1: Quasi-axes	14
Step 2: Choosing which point to move	15
Step 3: Organising distance formula terms	15
Step 4: Controlling orthogonal terms	16
Step 5: Accumulating distance in nested domains	17
5. \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness: examples and counterexamples	19
5.1. Positive examples	20
5.2. Quasimorphisms, central extensions, and bounded classes	22
5.3. Quasimorphisms taking arbitrarily small values	23
5.4. HHG constructions	24
5.5. Questions on \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness	26
References	27

1. INTRODUCTION

An important descriptor of an isometric action of a group G on a metric space (X, d) is the *(stable) translation length* $\tau_X : G \to [0, \infty)$, given by

$$\tau_X(g) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\mathsf{d}(x, g^n x)}{n},$$

Date: October 25, 2023.

which is well defined and independent of the choice of $x \in X$ by the triangle inequality. Translation lengths were first considered for X a Riemannian manifold, but the notion arises frequently when considering actions on more general spaces. The many well-known results where translation lengths play an important role include the work of Gromoll–Wolf on actions on nonpositively-curved manifolds [GW71] and work of Gersten–Short on biautomaticity [GS91].

While the precise values of the function τ_X depend on the choices of both X and the action, many properties of the image of τ_X are not. For instance, if G acts isometrically on X and Y and they admit a G-equivariant (K, K)-quasi-isometry, then $\frac{1}{K}\tau_X(g) \leq \tau_Y(g) \leq K\tau_X(g)$ for any $g \in G$. One consequence is that the set of loxodromic isometries (those $g \in G$ for which $\tau_X(g) > 0$) is invariant depends only on the G-equivariant quasi-isometry type of X.

A *G*-action on *X* is translation discrete if there is a constant $\tau_0 > 0$ such that, for each $g \in G$, either $\langle g \rangle$ has bounded orbits in *X* (in particular, $\tau_X(g) = 0$), or $\tau_X(g) \ge \tau_0$. Translation discreteness is also invariant under *G*-equivariant quasi-isometries. In this paper, we consider translation discreteness in two main settings: for *X* a proper Cayley graph; and for (improper) actions on hyperbolic spaces arising in the context of hierarchically hyperbolic groups.

1.1. TRANSLATION DISCRETENESS IN CAYLEY GRAPHS

The first context in which we study translation discreteness is when G is a finitely generated group, and X = G is equipped with a word-metric coming from a finite generating set. In this setting, $\tau_G(g) > 0$ means that $\langle g \rangle$ is an *undistorted* infinite cyclic subgroup of G, i.e., the map $\mathbb{Z} \to G$ given by $n \mapsto g^n$ is a quasi-isometric embedding. Translation discreteness of the action of G on itself therefore equates to infinite cyclic subgroups being *uniformly* undistorted.

Well-known examples of finitely generated groups that contain *distorted* infinite cyclic subgroups include the Baumslag–Solitar groups BS(p,q) with $|p| \neq |q|$ and virtually nilpotent groups that are not virtually abelian [DK18, Lem. 14.15], among many others. In the other direction, all infinite cyclic subgroups are undistorted when G is hyperbolic [Gro87, Cor. 8.1.D], CAT(0) [BH99, Prop. 6.10], or, more generally, semihyperbolic [AB95, Thm 7.1]. Hence this property is often considered a form of "coarse non-positive curvature".

In many examples of interest, the stronger property of having uniformly undistorted infinite cyclic subgroups holds. This is the case, for example, in hyperbolic groups [Gro87], CAT(0) groups [Con00b], Garside groups [HO21b], Helly groups [HO21a], groups satisfying various (graphical) small-cancellation conditions [ACGH19], mapping class groups [Bow08], and $Out(F_n)$ [Ali02]. This property is often established directly by constructing uniformquality quasi-axes in some space on which G acts. A beautiful example is Haglund's construction of combinatorial axes for loxodromic isometries of CAT(0) cube complexes [Hag07], which generalises the classical case of trees [Ser03].

Uniform undistortion of infinite cyclic subgroups has stronger consequences than mere undistortion does. For example, if G has uniformly undistorted infinite cyclic subgroups, then solvable subgroups of G with finite virtual cohomological dimension must be abelian [Con00a], and finitely generated abelian subgroups of G are undistorted (though not necessarily uniformly) [But19].

Remark 1.1 (Non-examples and blended behaviour). Many of the best-known examples of groups G with *distorted* cyclic subgroups exhibit a sort of blended behaviour: there exists $\tau_0 > 0$ such that for all $g \in G$, either $\tau_G(g) = 0$ or $\tau_G(g) \ge \tau_0$. For example, if G is the integer Heisenberg group $\langle x, y, z \mid [x, z] = [y, z] = 1, [x, y] = z \rangle$, then $\tau_G(z^n) = 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, but every other element has nontrivial image under the 1–Lipschitz epimorphism $G \to \mathbb{Z}^2$ given by $x \mapsto (1, 0), y \mapsto (0, 1), z \mapsto (0, 0)$, whence $\tau_G(g) \ge 1$ for all $g \in G - \langle z \rangle$. Similar behaviour is

exhibited by the Baumslag-Solitar group $G = \langle a \rangle *_{a^b = a^2}$: the function τ_G vanishes on $\langle a \rangle$, but by considering axes in the Bass–Serre tree of the given splitting, one sees that τ_G is bounded away from 0 on $G - \langle a \rangle$.

Nevertheless, there do exist groups G where $\tau_G(g) > 0$ for all $g \in G - \{1\}$, but τ_G takes arbitrarily small values. This was investigated in detail by Conner [Con00a], who analysed translation discreteness in solvable groups. For example, Conner gives an explicit linear map $M \in GL_4(\mathbb{Z})$ such that all cyclic subgroups of the group $G = \mathbb{Z}^4 \rtimes_M \mathbb{Z}$ are undistorted, but not uniformly [Con00a, Eg. 7.1].

Examining the list of translation discrete examples, one finds a large overlap with the class of semihyperbolic groups, which have undistorted cyclic subgroups as noted above. However, it appears to be an open question whether all semihyperbolic groups are translation discrete. Our first theorem is a positive result in this direction. See Section 2 for the definition of an injective metric space.

Theorem 1.2. Let G be a group acting metrically properly and coboundedly on an injective metric space X. There exists $\tau_0 > 0$ such that $\tau_G(g) \ge \tau_0$ for all infinite-order $g \in G$, i.e., G is translation discrete. Moreover, there exists q > 0 such that each infinite-order $g \in G$ admits a q-quasi-axis in G.

This theorem is established as follows. As explained in Section 2, the injective space X has barycentres in the sense of Definition 2.1. Translation discreteness is thus a consequence of Proposition 2.8, and the statement about quasi-axes follows from Proposition 2.11.

The results in Section 2 are more general than the above statement, in terms of the action and in terms of the space X; the reader is referred there for the precise statements. In particular, they engage more directly with the above question about semihyperbolic groups by covering groups with *reversible*, *conical* bicombings, a refinement of semihyperbolicity.

We emphasise that Theorem 1.2 does not require the space X to be proper. If X is proper, then the statement about quasi-axes can be strengthened: each infinite-order $g \in G$ is semisimple by [BH99, Thm II.6.10], hence has positive translation length by [Lan13, Prop. 1.2] and so has a geodesic axis. In particular, translation discreteness was already known for groups acting geometrically on proper injective spaces. This includes Helly groups [CCG⁺20, Thm 6.3] and cocompactly cubulated groups, using that finite-dimensional CAT(0) cube complexes are equivariantly bilipschitz-equivalent to injective spaces [Bow20].

Theorem 1.2 applies to the class of *hierarchically hyperbolic groups (HHGs)*, which were introduced in [BHS17, BHS19] as a common generalisation of mapping class groups and fundamental groups of compact special cube complexes, and which act properly and coboundedly on injective spaces [HHP20]. We give background on hierarchical hyperbolicity in Section 3, and more discussion appears in the next subsection. In Proposition 3.10, we establish:

Corollary 1.3 (HHGs are translation discrete). Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be a hierarchically hyperbolic group. There exists $\tau_0 > 0$ such that $\tau_G(g) \ge \tau_0$ for all infinite-order $g \in G$.

It was shown in [DHS17, DHS20] that HHGs have undistorted infinite cyclic subgroups; Corollary 1.3 strengthens this. From Corollary 1.3 and [But19, Thm 4.2], one recovers the fact that hierarchically hyperbolic groups have undistorted abelian subgroups, previously established in [HHP20, Cor. H] and [HRSS22, Prop. 2.17].

1.2. Non-proper actions arising from hierarchical hyperbolicity

Many well-known examples illustrate the importance of actions on hyperbolic spaces under hypotheses weaker than properness. Questions about translation lengths in this context have a long history, beginning with translation discreteness of hyperbolic groups on their Cayley graphs [Gro87, Swe95, Del96]. Actions of mapping class groups on curve graphs are important guiding examples, and Bowditch established translation discreteness for pseudo-Anosovs, as a consequence of acylindricity of the action [Bow08]. There has been considerable subsequent study of the translation length spectrum for mapping class groups and analogous examples, e.g., [BSS23, AT17, BW16, Man13, Gen22].

After mapping class groups, the most relevant examples for our present purposes are quasitrees associated to right-angled Artin groups (the *extension graph* [KK13, KK14]) and CAT(0) cube complexes more generally (the *contact graph* [Hag14]). The action of a cubulated group Gon the contact graph $\mathcal{C}X$ of the cube complex X is WPD [BHS17] but need not be acylindrical [She22], and the set of positive translation lengths need not be bounded away from zero [Gen22]. However, when X admits a *factor system* as in [BHS17], which happens under a variety of hypotheses [HS20], including when the action of G is cospecial [HW08], the action on $\mathcal{C}X$ is acylindrical, and nonzero translation lengths are therefore bounded below. These examples are discussed in more detail in Section 5.

Mapping class groups and compact special groups (including right-angled Artin groups) are early examples of hierarchically hyperbolic groups, the class of which has now been considerably enlarged; see, e.g., [BHS19, BR20a, RS20, BR20b, Che22, BHMS20, HMS21, HRSS22]. A hierarchically hyperbolic group is, by definition, equipped with a cofinite G-set \mathfrak{S} in which each element U is associated to a hyperbolic space $\mathcal{C}U$ in such a way that G acts by isometries on the extended metric space $\prod_{U \in \mathfrak{S}} \mathcal{C}U$, permuting factors. In particular, $\operatorname{Stab}_G(U)$ acts by isometries on $\mathcal{C}U$, and one can ask about the translation length spectra for these actions.

In [DHS17], it is shown that each $g \in G$ has an associated uniformly finite subset $\operatorname{Big}(g) \subset \mathfrak{S}$ such that, after replacing g by a uniform power, each $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$ is invariant under the action of $\langle g \rangle$, which moreover has unbounded orbits in $\mathcal{C}U$. In [DHS20], it is shown that $\tau_{\mathcal{C}U}(g) > 0$ for each $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$. It follows from this that $\tau_G(g) > 0$. However, the argument in [DHS20] cannot be adapted to yield a *uniform* lower bound on $\tau_{\mathcal{C}U}(g)$ for all $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$. In this paper, the logic is reversed: to study $\tau_{\mathcal{C}U}(g)$, we *start* with the lower bound on $\tau_G(g)$ provided by Corollary 1.3, and use this to analyse $\tau_{\mathcal{C}U}(g)$ for $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$.

One cannot hope for a global statement to the effect that $\operatorname{Stab}_G(U)$ has discrete translation length spectrum on $\mathcal{C}U$. This is illustrated by the following theorem, proved in Section 5.

Theorem 1.4. Let G be an infinite hierarchically hyperbolic group that is elementary or acylindrically hyperbolic. Let $[\alpha] \in H^2(G, \mathbb{Z})$ be representable by a bounded cocycle, and let E_{α} be the corresponding \mathbb{Z} -central extension of G.

The extension E_{α} admits a hierarchically hyperbolic structure $(E_{\alpha}, \mathfrak{S})$ such that the following holds for some E_{α} -invariant $A \in \mathfrak{S}$. For all $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $g \in E_{\alpha}$ such that $A \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$ and $\tau_{\mathcal{C}A}(g) \in (0, \epsilon)$.

The theorem applies, for example, to any central extension of any infinite hyperbolic group G, since $H_b^2(G,\mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(G,\mathbb{Z})$ is onto in that case [Min02]. Even \mathbb{Z}^2 admits hierarchically hyperbolic structures involving arbitrarily small translation lengths; see Example 5.2. Such examples establish sharpness of the following result, which covers all HHG structures on a given group. To state it, we recall that there is a constant n such that $g^n \in \operatorname{Stab}_G(U)$ for any $g \in G$ and any $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$.

Theorem 1.5. Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be a hierarchically hyperbolic group. There exists $\tau_0 > 0$, depending only on G and \mathfrak{S} , such that for any infinite-order $g \in G$, there exists $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$ such that $\tau_{\mathcal{C}U}(g^n) \ge \tau_0$.

Theorem 1.5 does not assert that the action of any particular $\operatorname{Stab}_G(U)$ on $\mathcal{C}U$ is translation discrete, and Theorem 1.4 rules out the possibility of replacing "there exists $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$ " by "for all $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$ " in Theorem 1.5.

On the other hand, Theorem 1.5 does give enough control of translation lengths to prove strong results. For example, Theorem 1.5 plays a role in recent work of Abbott–Ng–Spriano and Gupta–Petyt on uniform exponential growth in HHGs and many cubulated groups [ANS⁺19]. It is also used in forthcoming work by Zalloum [Zal23] where the author shows that in any irreducible virtually torsion-free HHG, one can find a Morse element (and more generally, free stable subgroups) uniformly quickly. It is also related to a subtle point about *product regions* and their coarse factors, see [DHS20, §2] and [CHK22, §15].

1.3. QUESTIONS

To find a uniform quasi-axis for an element g of an HHG (G, \mathfrak{S}) , we used the G-action on an injective space. This is similar to how bicombings on injective spaces are used in [HHP20] to produce equivariant bicombings on G. As noted in that paper, it is unknown whether those bicombing quasigeodesics are *hierarchy paths* for the given HHG structure, and we can ask the same about the quasi-axes:

Question 1.6. Fix a hierarchically hyperbolic group (G, \mathfrak{S}) and a word metric on G. Does there exist a constant D such that for all infinite order $g \in G$, there is a $\langle g \rangle$ -invariant Dquasi-axis projecting to an unparametrised (D, D)-quasigeodesic in $\mathcal{C}U$ for all $U \in \mathfrak{S}$?

The content of the above question is whether D can be chosen independently of g. One could also ask a more general version of the question, in which \mathbb{Z} subgroups are replaced by \mathbb{Z}^n subgroups. Again, it is known that any such subgroup stabilises a *hierarchically quasiconvex* subspace F that is quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R}^m for some $m \ge n$ [HRSS22, Prop. 2.17], but the hierarchical quasiconvexity parameters may depend on the choice of subgroup. Since the active ingredient in the proof of Corollary 1.3 is the action on a space with barycentres, a starting point could be the following.

Question 1.7. Let G act properly and coboundedly on a space X with barycentres. Are the \mathbb{Z}^n subgroups of G uniformly undistorted for each $n \ge 2$?

Button showed in [But19] that uniform undistortion of \mathbb{Z} subgroups implies (not a priori uniform) undistortion of \mathbb{Z}^n subgroups; the question asks whether the implicit constants can be made uniform, at least for each fixed choice of n. Similarly to the cyclic case, proving uniform undistortion of abelian subgroups generally requires establishing some form of a *flat*torus theorem [GW71, LY72, BH99], as suggested by Question 2.12 and by a very general result of this type due to Descombes-Lang [DL16]. We discuss the latter result, and prove some statements effectivising Button's result, in Section 2. However, it seems plausible that the answer to Question 1.7 and hence to Question 2.12 is negative in the given generality, and counterexamples would be very interesting.

Next, we mentioned earlier the results of Genevois and Shepherd about the spectrum of translation-lengths for the action of a cocompactly cubulated group on the contact graph $\mathcal{C}X$ of the CAT(0) cube complex X. A natural question is:

Question 1.8. Let G act properly and cocompactly on the CAT(0) cube complex X, and suppose that τ_{CX} is bounded away from 0 on loxodromic elements of G. Is the induced action on CX acylindrical?

In other words, is inapplicability of Bowditch's translation-length result [Bow08] the only obstacle to acylindricity? One can ask analogous questions in the more general context of *quasimedian graphs*, studied in [Gen22], or for the *curtain models* studied in [PSZ22].

We mention a few additional avenues for research suggested by these results. First, one could try to articulate conditions on a group G with a proper cobounded action on an injective space X such that the spectrum of stable translation lengths on X determines X up to G-equivariant isometry, possibly among actions on injective spaces in some restricted class. One could also attempt to characterise HHG structures up to some natural equivalence by translation length spectra. The aim would be a useful notion of the "space of injective/HHG structures" for a given G. Some motivation for this idea comes from the marked ℓ^1 -length spectrum rigidity result for certain classes of actions on cube complexes [BF21].

For many finitely generated groups G, more delicate results regarding the spectrum of translation lengths are known. For instance, when G is hyperbolic, there is an integer N that depends only on the hyperbolicity constant of a given Cayley graph where all infinite order elements g satisfy $\tau_G(g) \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}$. More generally, the same statement holds for M-Morse elements of any Morse local-to-global group G (see [RST22] for the definition). Namely, for each Morse gauge M there exists $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that if $g \in G$ is M-Morse, then $\tau_G(g) \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}$ provided that G is Morse local-to-global [RST22]. Thus, given a group G which is translation discrete, one could investigate whether the translation lengths $\tau_G(g)$ are rational for all $g \in G$. For example, it is not known whether the translation lengths (on the Cayley graph) of all elements in the mapping class group are rational.

Finally, we refer the reader to Section 5.5 for a few additional, more technical, questions building on the central extension constructions in Section 5.

1.4. Outline of the paper

Section 2 discusses translation lengths for actions on spaces with barycentres, which extract a key property of injective spaces. Section 3 covers background on hierarchical hyperbolicity and applies Proposition 2.8 to prove uniform undistortion for HHGs. This is the starting point for the proof of Theorem 1.5, which occupies Section 4. Finally, Section 5 discusses the sharpness of Theorem 1.5 and analogues for well-known groups.

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank Jason Behrstock, Matt Durham, Thomas Ng, Alessandro Sisto, and Davide Spriano for discussions related to Theorem 1.5. We are also grateful to Johanna Mangahas, Lee Mosher, Kasra Rafi, Saul Schleimer, Juan Souto, Richard Webb, and MathOverflow user Sam Nead for helpful discussions about translation lengths on annular curve graphs. We thank David Hume for pointing out the examples in [ACGH19], Alice Kerr for reminding us about [Man06], and Nicolas Vaskou for a discussion about translation length in Artin groups.

CA was supported by NSF grant DMS-2106906. HP thanks the organisers of the thematic program in geometric group theory at the CRM in Montreal, where this project was completed.

2. Barycentres and translation lengths

Definition 2.1. Let us say that a metric space (X, d) has barycentres if for each n there is a map $b_n: X^n \to X$ such that b_n is:

- idempotent: for every $x \in X$ we have $b_n(x^n) = x$, where x^n denotes the tuple $(x, \ldots, x) \in X^n$;
- symmetric: b_n is invariant under permutation of co-ordinates;
- Isom X-invariant: for every $g \in$ Isom X we have $gb_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = b_n(gx_1, \ldots, gx_n)$;

TRANSLATION LENGTHS IN HHGS

• $\frac{1}{n}$ -Lipschitz: $\mathsf{d}\left(b_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n),b_n(y_1,\ldots,y_n)\right) \leq \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n \mathsf{d}(x_i,y_i).$

In fact, it would be natural to assume something *a priori* rather stronger than idempotence, namely that the barycentre of a repeated tuple agrees with the barycentre of the tuple, in the sense of Remark 2.5. However, we do not explicitly need this in our arguments, and when X is complete it is actually a consequence of the above definition, as explained in the aforementioned remark.

Building on work of Es-Sahib–Heinich and Navas [EH99, Nav13], Descombes showed that every complete metric space with a *reversible, conical* bicombing (and every proper space with a conical bicombing) that is Isom–invariant has barycentres [Des16, Thm 2.1]. This includes many examples of interest, including all *CUB spaces* [Hae22], examples of which are produced in [HHP23]. Most importantly for the purposes of this paper, it includes all *injective metric spaces* by work of Lang [Lan13, Prop. 3.8], as mentioned in the introduction. However, there is a more direct way to see that injective spaces have barycentres [Pet22, §7.2, §7.4], as we now describe.

Definition 2.2. A metric space X is *injective* if for every metric space B and every subset $A \subset B$, if $f: A \to X$ is 1-Lipschitz then there exists a 1-Lipschitz map $\hat{f}: B \to X$ with $\hat{f}|_A = f$.

For example, given a metric space Y, let $\mathbb{R}^Y = \{Y \to \mathbb{R}\}$, and for $f, g \in \mathbb{R}^Y$ let $\mathsf{d}_{\infty}(f, g) = \sup_{y \in Y} |f(y) - g(y)|$. Every component of the extended metric space $(\mathbb{R}^Y, \mathsf{d}_{\infty})$ is injective.

Lemma 2.3. Injective metric spaces have barycentres.

Proof. Let (X, d) be an injective space. The map $x \mapsto \mathsf{d}(x, \cdot)$ defines an isometric embedding of X into \mathbb{R}^X , so we can view X as a subset. We now recall a construction from [Dre84, §1]. First, let $P_X \subset \mathbb{R}^X$ be the set of functions f such that $f(x) + f(y) \ge \mathsf{d}(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in X$. Observe that the map $(\mathbb{R}^X)^n \to \mathbb{R}^X$ defined by $(f_1, \ldots, f_n) \mapsto \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i$ sends tuples of functions in P_X to functions in P_X . Let $T_X \subset P_X$ be the set of f such that

$$f(x) = \sup_{y \in X} \{ \mathsf{d}(x, y) - f(y) \}$$

for all $x \in X$. Observe that X, regarded as above as a subset of \mathbb{R}^X , is contained in T_X . On the other hand, as noted in [Dre84], injectivity of X implies that $X \to T_X$ is surjective, and we can identify X with T_X .

Each isometry $\Psi: X \to X$ extends to a linear isomorphism $f \mapsto f\Psi^{-1}$ which is an isometry on each component of \mathbb{R}^X and which preserves P_X and T_X . Dress defines a 1-Lipschitz retraction $p: P_X \to T_X = X$ in [Dre84, §1.9] which, by construction, is Isom(X)-equivariant (see also [Lan13, Prop. 3.7.(2)]). (From Definition 2.2, one could construct a 1-Lipschitz retraction $\mathbb{R}^X \to X$ directly, but we use the map p to ensure equivariance.)

Given points x_1, \ldots, x_n in X, consider their affine barycentre $\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathsf{d}(x_i, \cdot) \in P_X$. The maps defined by $b_n: (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \mapsto p(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \mathsf{d}(x_i, \cdot))$ satisfy the requirements of Definition 2.1, and hence provide barycentres for X.

Lemma 2.4. If X has barycentres, then every pair of points is joined by an isometric image of a dense subset of an interval. If X is complete, then it has an Isom X-invariant, reversible, conical geodesic bicombing; and every space with an Isom-invariant conical geodesic bicombing has barycentres.

In our applications, we only need the first assertion in the above lemma, and have included the statements about bicombings only since they may be of independent interest. Proof of Lemma 2.4. Given $x, y \in X$, the point $b_2(x, y)$ has $d(x, b_2(x, y)) = d(y, b_2(x, y)) = \frac{1}{2} d(x, y)$. Iterating, we get an isometrically embedded dyadic interval from x to y, and if X is complete then we get a geodesic by taking limits. By the properties of barycentres, these geodesics form an Isom X-invariant conical bicombing. The fact that every space with an Isom-invariant conical bicombing has barycentres is [Des16, Thm 2.1].

Remark 2.5. If X is complete, then Lemma 2.4 implies that it has a reversible conical bicombing. According to [Des16, Prop. 2.4], the barycentres can then be perturbed so that they additionally satisfy $b_{nm}(x_1^m, \ldots, x_n^m) = b_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ for every n, m, x_1, \ldots, x_n , where z^m denotes the tuple $(z, \ldots, z) \in X^m$. We could therefore have assumed this stronger property to begin with in most situations. Moreover, observe that the barycentres on X naturally extend to its metric completion.

Recall that for a group G acting on a metric space (X, d) and an element $g \in G$, the stable translation length is denoted $\tau_X(g) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \mathsf{d}(x, g^n x)$, which is independent of x. We also write $|g| = \inf\{\mathsf{d}(x, gx) : x \in X\}$. Observe that, by repeatedly applying the triangle inequality, we always have $\tau_X(g) \leq |g|$. The following was noted for injective spaces in [Pet22, Rem. 7.25]. We provide a proof for completeness.

Lemma 2.6. If G acts on a metric space X with barycentres, then $|g| = \tau_X(g)$ for all $g \in G$.

Proof. Fix $x \in X$, and let $x_n = b_n(x, gx, \dots, g^{n-1}x)$. We compute

$$d(x_n, gx_n) = d\left(b_n(x, gx, \dots, g^{n-1}x), b_n(gx, g^2x, \dots, g^nx)\right)$$
$$= d\left(b_n(x, gx, \dots, g^{n-1}x), b_n(g^nx, gx, \dots, g^{n-1}x)\right) \leq \frac{1}{n} d(x, g^nx).$$

Hence $\tau_X(g) \leq |g| \leq \mathsf{d}(x_n, gx_n) \to \tau_X(g).$

Definition 2.7. Let G be a group acting on a metric space X. The action is said to be *acylindrical* if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist R, N such that if d(x, y) > R, then

$$|\{g \in G : \mathsf{d}(x, gx), \mathsf{d}(y, gy) \leq \varepsilon\}| \leq N.$$

The action is uniformly proper if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists N such that

$$|\{g \in G \, : \, \mathsf{d}(x, gx) \leqslant \varepsilon\}| \leqslant N$$

for all $x \in X$.

Uniform properness implies acylindricity, and proper cobounded actions are uniformly proper. The proof of the first part of the following proposition is slightly simpler than Bowditch's proof for acylindrical actions on hyperbolic graphs [Bow08], and also recovers it because hyperbolic graphs are coarsely dense in their injective hulls [Lan13].

Proposition 2.8. Let G act on a metric space X with barycentres. If the action is:

- acylindrical, then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\tau_X(g) > \delta$ for every $g \in G$ whose action is not elliptic;
- uniformly proper, then $\tau_X(g) > \delta$ for every infinite-order $g \in G$;
- proper and cobounded, then G has finitely many conjugacy classes of finite subgroups.

Proof. Supposing that the action is acylindrical, let R and N be such that if d(x, y) > R then $|\{g \in G : d(x, gx), d(y, gy) \leq 1\}| \leq N$. Suppose that $g \in G$ is not elliptic. By Lemma 2.6

there is some $x \in X$ such that $d(x, gx) \leq \tau_X(g) + \frac{1}{2N}$. As g is not elliptic, there is some n such that $d(x, g^n x) > R$. If $\tau_X(g) \leq \frac{1}{2N}$, then

$$\mathsf{d}(g^n x, g^{n+i} x) = \mathsf{d}(x, g^i x) \leqslant i \left(\tau_X(g) + \frac{1}{2N} \right) \leqslant \frac{i}{N}$$

for all $i \ge 0$. Considering $i \in \{0, \ldots, N\}$ gives a contradiction, proving the first statement.

If the action is proper, then no infinite-order element is elliptic, and if the action is uniformly proper then it is acylindrical.

Finally, suppose the action is proper and cobounded. If $F = \{1, f_2, \ldots, f_n\}$ is a finite subgroup of G, then $b_n(1, \ldots, f_n)$ is fixed by F. Using that finite subgroups have fixed points, a standard argument shows that G has finitely many conjugacy classes of finite subgroups. \Box

For a constant $\varepsilon \ge 0$ and an element g of a group acting on a metric space X with barycentres, let $M_{\varepsilon}(g) = \{x \in X : \mathsf{d}(x, gx) \le \tau_X(g) + \varepsilon\}$. If $\varepsilon > 0$, then this set is nonempty by Lemma 2.6. Given a proper cocompact action, $M_0(g) \ne \emptyset$ as well, see [DL16, Lem. 4.3].

Lemma 2.9. $M_{\varepsilon}(g)$ is closed under taking barycentres and is stabilised by the centraliser of g.

Proof. If $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \subset M_{\varepsilon}(g)$, then

$$d\left(b_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n),gb_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n)\right) = d\left(b_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n),b_n(gx_1,\ldots,gx_n)\right)$$
$$\leqslant \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n d(x_i,gx_i) \leqslant \tau_X(g) + \varepsilon.$$

If h commutes with g and $x \in M_{\varepsilon}(g)$, then $\mathsf{d}(hx, ghx) = \mathsf{d}(hx, hgx) \leq \tau_X(g) + \varepsilon$.

Definition 2.10. For $q \ge 0$, a q-quasiaxis of an isometry g of a metric space X is a $\langle g \rangle$ invariant subset $A_q \subset X$ admitting a q-coarsely surjective (1 + q, q)-quasiisometry $\mathbb{R} \to A_q$.

Proposition 2.11. Let G act on a metric space X with barycentres. For every $\varepsilon > 0$, every $g \in G$ with $\tau_X(g) > 0$ has a ε -quasiaxis.

Hence, if G acts on X acylindrically, then for all $\epsilon > 0$, every non-elliptic $g \in G$ has an ϵ -quasiaxis. If the action is uniformly proper, then this holds for all $g \in G$ of infinite order.

Proof. As noted in Remark 2.5, the barycentre maps on X naturally extend to its completion, so there is no loss in assuming that X is complete. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $g \in G$ satisfy $\tau := \tau_X(g) > 0$ and $x \in M_{\varepsilon}(g)$. Let $I : [0, \mathsf{d}(x, gx)] \to X$ be the unit-speed geodesic from x to gx provided by the proof of Lemma 2.4. Consider the subset $A_g = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} g^n I$, which is stabilised by g. We have $A_g \subset M_{\varepsilon}(g)$ by Lemma 2.9. It remains to show that A_g is an ε -quasiline.

Given $t \in \mathbb{R}$, write $t = n\tau + r$, where $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $r \in [0, \tau)$, and let $f(t) = g^n I(r)$, which is well-defined since $\tau \leq |I|$. This defines a map $f : \mathbb{R} \to A_g$ that is ε -coarsely onto. Let $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}$, and write $t_i = n_i \tau + r_i$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. If $n_1 = n_2$, then by definition we have $d(f(t_1), f(t_2)) = |t_1 - t_2|$. Otherwise, we may assume that $n_1 < n_2$, and we compute:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{d}(f(t_1), f(t_2)) &\leqslant \mathsf{d}(f(t_1), g^{n_1+1}x) + \mathsf{d}(g^{n_1+1}x, g^{n_2}x) + \mathsf{d}(g^{n_2}x, f(t_2)) \\ &\leqslant (\tau + \varepsilon - r_1) + (n_2 - n_1 - 1)(\tau + \varepsilon) + r_2 \\ &= r_2 - r_1 + \tau(n_2 - n_1) + \varepsilon(n_2 - n_1) \leqslant |t_2 - t_1| + \varepsilon |t_2 - t_1| + \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

We similarly obtain a lower bound as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{d}(f(t_1), f(t_2)) &\geq \mathsf{d}(g^{n_1}x, g^{n_2+1}x) - \mathsf{d}(g^{n_1}x, f(t_1)) - \mathsf{d}(g^{n_2+1}x, f(t_2)) \\ &\geq (n_2 - n_1 + 1)\tau - r_1 - (\tau + \varepsilon - r_2) \\ &= \tau(n_2 - n_1) + r_2 - r_1 - \varepsilon = |t_2 - t_1| - \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Combining these estimates, we see that f is a $(1 + \varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ -quasi-isometry. The statement about acylindrical and uniformly proper actions now follows using Proposition 2.8.

The same proof shows that if X is complete and g is non-elliptic with $M_0(g) \neq \emptyset$, then g has a geodesic axis. However, in our applications we will not be able to arrange for M_0 to be nonempty, because X can fail to be proper.

It is natural to ask for a higher-dimensional version of the above result. More precisely:

Question 2.12. Let G act uniformly properly on a metric space X with barycentres and let n > 1. Does there exist λ such that for all subgroups $H \leq G$ with $H \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$, there is an H-invariant subspace $F \subset X$ that is (λ, λ) -quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R}^n ?

We finish this section by partially addressing this question.

Proposition 2.13. Let G act properly coboundedly on a metric space X with barycentres, and let $\varepsilon > 0$. If $H = \langle g_1, \ldots, g_n \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$ is a free abelian subgroup, then there is a $(1 + \varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ -coarsely Lipschitz map $(\mathbb{R}^n, \ell^1) \to X$ whose image is H-invariant.

For n = 1, the above proposition gives a $\langle g_1 \rangle$ -equivariant uniformly coarsely Lipschitz axis in X, but does not recover the full statement of Proposition 2.11 because it gives only one of the bounds needed for a quasi-isometric embedding.

Proof of Prop. 2.13. Let $\delta \in (0, 1]$ be given by Proposition 2.8, and fix $\varepsilon > 0$.

We first show that $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} M_{\varepsilon}(g_i) \neq \emptyset$, arguing by induction on *n*. By Lemma 2.6, $M_{\varepsilon}(g_1) \neq \emptyset$. Fix $j \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$, and assume by induction that there exists $x \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{j-1} M_{\varepsilon}(g_i)$. By Lemma 2.9, for every *m*, the point $y_m = b_m(x, g_j x, \ldots, g_j^{m-1} x)$ lies in $\bigcap_{i=1}^{j-1} M_{\varepsilon}(g_i)$, using that $[g_j, g_i] = 1$ for all *i*. Moreover,

$$\mathsf{d}(y_m, g_j y_m) \ = \ \mathsf{d}\left(b_m(x, g_j x, \dots, g_j^{m-1} x), b_m(g_j^m x, g_j x, \dots, g_j^{m-1} x)\right) \ \leqslant \ \frac{1}{m} \, \mathsf{d}(x, g_j^m x).$$

Thus $y_m \in \bigcap_{i=1}^j M_{\varepsilon}(g_i)$ for sufficiently large m. So $\bigcap_{i=1}^n M_{\varepsilon}(g_i) \neq \emptyset$. Fix $x \in \bigcap_{i=1}^n M_{\varepsilon}(g_i)$. Next, let $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$ be the standard basis of \mathbb{R}^n . For brevity, let $\tau_i = \tau_X(g_i)$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$.

Next, let $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$ be the standard basis of \mathbb{R}^n . For brevity, let $\tau_i = \tau_X(g_i)$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$. Let $D^n \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be the set of vectors of the form $\sum_{i=1}^n r_i \tau_i e_i$, where r_i is a dyadic rational. Define a map $f: D^n \to X$ as follows.

Set f(0) = x. For $i \ge 1$, suppose that f has been defined on $(D^{i-1} \times \{0\}^{n-i+1}) \cap \prod_{i=1}^{n} [0, \tau_i)$. Given an element p thereof, set $f(p + \frac{1}{2}\tau_i e_i) = b_2(f(p), g_i f(p))$. We can define f(q) for every $q \in D^i \times \{0\}^{n-i} \cap \prod_{i=1}^{n} [0, \tau_i)$ by repeatedly taking barycentres in this way. Inductively, this defines f on $D^n \cap \prod_{i=1}^{n} [0, \tau_i)$. Specifically, for any $p \in D^{n-1} \times \{0\}$, the restriction of f to the set of dyadic rationals in $\{p\} \times [0, \tau_n)$ has image an isometrically embedded (dense subset of an) interval of length $d(f(p), g_n f(p))$ from f(p) to $g_n f(p)$.

Given $p \in D^n$, we can write

$$p = (p_i \tau_i + a_i \tau_i)_{i=1}^n,$$

where each $p_i \in [0, 1)$ is a dyadic rational and each $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$. We define $[p] = (p_i \tau_i)_{i=1}^n$. Then we let $f(p) = g_1^{a_1} \cdots g_n^{a_n} f([p])$. Observe that f is well-defined and the image of f is H-invariant by construction. We now check that f is coarsely Lipschitz.

First, for convenience, let $C = D^n \cap \prod_{i=1}^n [0, \tau_i)$ and let \overline{C} be its closure in D^n . Letting H act on D^n by declaring g_i to be a unit translation by $\tau_i e_i$, we see that C contains exactly one point in each H-orbit (and f is an H-equivariant map defined as above on C using barycentres and then extending equivariantly).

Now let $p, q \in D^n$. Let γ be an ℓ^1 -metric geodesic in \mathbb{R}^n from p to q such that $\gamma \cap D$ is dense in γ . Then $\gamma = \gamma_1 \cdots \gamma_m$, where each γ_j is an ℓ^1 -metric geodesic whose intersection with D^n lies in some H-translate of \overline{C} , and these translates are distinct for distinct j. We will argue that f is $(1 + \varepsilon)$ -Lipschitz on C, so by equivariance, f is $(1 + \varepsilon)$ -Lipschitz on each H-translate of C. Hence, letting $p = p_0, \ldots, p_{m-1}$ be the initial points of $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_m$ and $p_m = q$ the terminal point of γ_m , we have $\mathsf{d}(f(p_i), f(p_{i+1})) \leq (1 + \varepsilon) \|p_i - p_{i+1}\|_1$ for each i. We conclude that

$$\mathsf{d}(f(p), f(q)) \leqslant \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} \mathsf{d}(f(p_i), f(p_{i+1})) \leqslant (1+\varepsilon) \sum_i |\gamma_i| = (1+\varepsilon) ||p-q||_1,$$

as required. So it remains to verify that f is $(1 + \varepsilon)$ -Lipschitz on C.

If $p, q \in C$, we can write $p = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \tau_i e_i$ and $q = \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i \tau_i e_i$. By construction,

$$d(f(p), f(q)) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\tau_i + \varepsilon) |p_i - q_i| = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{\tau_i}) \tau_i |p_i - q_i|$$
$$\leq (1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{\delta}) \sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_i |p_i - q_i| = (1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{\delta}) ||p - q||_1.$$

Here we used that $\tau_i \ge \delta > 0$ for all *i*. Since the above works for all ε , we are done.

One problem with Proposition 2.13 is that the map f could, a priori, fail to be collipschitz. This is addressed by the following statement, which is similar to [But19, Thm 4.2].

Lemma 2.14. Let $H = \langle g_1, \ldots, g_n \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$ be a free abelian group acting on a metric space X. For every $T, \delta > 0$ there exists $\delta' = \delta'(n, \delta, T) > 0$ such that the following holds. If every $h \in H$ has $\tau_X(h) > \delta$ and $\max\{\tau_X(g_i)\} \leq T$, then in fact every $h \in H$ has $\tau_X(h) \geq \delta' d_H(1, h)$.

Proof. In the terminology of [But19, Thm 4.2], τ_X defines a Z-norm on H. Consider the group embedding $H \to \mathbb{R}^n$ given by $g_i \mapsto e_i$, where the e_i are the standard basis vectors. The Z-norm τ_X extends to a norm N on \mathbb{R}^n . By linearity, $N(x) \ge r \|x\|_1$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, where $r = \inf\{N(z) : \|z\|_1 = 1\}$. Let us find a lower bound for r.

Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ have $||x||_1 = 1$. By an application of the pigeonhole principle, there is a constant $M = M(n, \delta, T)$ and a natural number $q \leq M$ such that there exist integers p_1, \ldots, p_n such that $|qx_i - p_i| \leq \frac{1}{2n} \frac{\delta}{T}$ (see, e.g., [HW75, Thm 201]). Following [Ste85], let $p = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$, so that $||qx - p||_1 \leq \frac{1}{2} \frac{\delta}{T}$. Because N is a norm, every point z with $||z||_1 = 1$ has $N(z) \leq \max\{N(e_i)\} \leq T$, which shows that $N(qx - p) \leq \frac{\delta}{2}$. As $||qx||_1 \geq ||x||_1 = 1$, the vector p must be nonzero, hence $N(p) > \delta$, and therefore $N(qx) > \frac{\delta}{2}$. We have shown that $r > \frac{\delta}{2M}$.

If $h \in H$, then $||h||_1 = \mathsf{d}_H(1, h)$, so we can compute

$$\tau_X(h) = N(h) \ge \frac{Tr}{\delta} \|h\|_1 \ge \frac{\delta}{2M(n)} \mathsf{d}_H(1,h).$$

Proposition 2.13 generalises a result of Descombes–Lang for proper spaces with *convex, consistent* bicombings [DL16, Thm 1.2], which includes proper injective spaces of finite dimension by [DL15]. They prove that if G acts properly cocompactly on such a space X in such a way that the bicombing is G–invariant, then every free-abelian subgroup A < G of rank n acts by

translations on some subset $Y \subset X$ isometric to (\mathbb{R}^n, N) , where N is some norm. Although Y is very well controlled, it does not seem clear whether this implies that abelian subgroups of G are uniformly undistorted, because the norm N depends on the choice of A.

3. Background on hierarchical hyperbolicity

A hierarchically hyperbolic structure on a space (X, d) is a package of associated data, which is usually abbreviated to (X, \mathfrak{S}) . Despite the compact notation, this package holds a large amount of information, much of which is not directly relevant to our purposes here (though it is all *indirectly* relevant, via the "distance formula" below). We therefore summarise the main components of the definition and some basic results needed here. For the detailed definition, see [BHS19, §1]; for a mostly self-contained exposition of the theory, see [CHK22, Part 2].

Firstly, \mathfrak{S} denotes the *index set*, whose elements are called *domains*. In some of the following statements, we refer to a constant $E \ge 1$, which is part of the data of a hierarchically hyperbolic structure and which is fixed in advance. In particular, in any property of individual domains $V \in \mathfrak{S}$, the constant E is independent of V.

- (1) For each domain $W \in \mathfrak{S}$ there is an associated *E*-hyperbolic geodesic space $\mathcal{C}W$ and an *E*-coarsely surjective (E, E)-coarsely Lipschitz map $\pi_W \colon X \to \mathcal{C}W$.
- (2) \mathfrak{S} has mutually exclusive relations \sqsubseteq , \bot , and \pitchfork satisfying the following.
 - \sqsubseteq is a partial order called *nesting*. If $\mathfrak{S} \neq \emptyset$, then \mathfrak{S} contains a unique \sqsubseteq -maximal element S.
 - \perp is a symmetric and anti-reflexive relation called *orthogonality*. If $U \equiv V$ and $V \perp W$, then $U \perp W$.
 - There exists an integer c called the *complexity* of X such that every $\not\sqsubseteq$ -chain has length at most c, and every pairwise orthogonal set has cardinality at most c.
 - \wedge , called *transversality*, is the complement of \perp and \subseteq .
- (3) If $U \not\subseteq V$ or $U \pitchfork V$, then there is an associated set $\rho_V^U \subset \mathcal{C}V$ of diameter at most E. If $U \not\subseteq V \not\subseteq W$, then $\mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{C}W}(\rho_W^U, \rho_W^V) \leqslant E$.
- (4) If $U \pitchfork V$ and $x \in G$ satisfies $\mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{C}U}(\pi_U(x), \rho_U^V) > E$, then $\mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{C}V}(\pi_V(x), \rho_V^U) \leq E$.

We emphasise that the above list is just a subset of the full definition of a hierarchically hyperbolic structure.

Definition 3.1 (Hierarchically hyperbolic group). A finitely generated group G with word metric $d = d_G$ is a *hierarchically hyperbolic group* (or *HHG*) if it has a hierarchically hyperbolic structure (G, \mathfrak{S}) such that the following additional equivariance conditions hold.

- G acts on \mathfrak{S} . The action is cofinite and preserves the three relations \sqsubseteq, \bot , and \Diamond .
- For each $g \in G$ and each $U \in \mathfrak{S}$, there is an isometry $g: \mathcal{C}U \to \mathcal{C}gU$. These isometries satisfy $g \circ h = gh$.
- For all $x, g \in G$ and $U \in \mathfrak{S}$, we have $g\pi_U(x) = \pi_{gU}(gx)$. Moreover, if $V \in \mathfrak{S}$ and either $U \pitchfork V$ or $V \subsetneq U$, then $g\rho_U^V = \rho_{gU}^{gV}$.

We are following the definition given in [PS20] as it appears to be the most compact, but the notion was originally introduced in [BHS17, BHS19]. The original definition was shown to be equivalent to the present, simpler, one in [DHS20, §2].

The final part of a hierarchically hyperbolic structure mentioned above is called a *consistency* condition. A related part of the definition is a "bounded geodesic image" axiom, and though we do not use it directly, it combines with consistency to provide the following statement, which will be important for us. It is part of [BHS19, Prop. 1.11]. For two points

 $x, y \in X$, it is standard to simplify notation by using $\mathsf{d}_U(x, y)$ to denote $\mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{C}U}(\pi_U(x), \pi_U(y))$, and similarly for subsets of G.

Lemma 3.2 (Bounded geodesic image). Let $x, y \in G$, and suppose that $U, V \in \mathfrak{S}$ satisfy $V \subsetneq U$. If there exists a geodesic $\gamma \subset \mathcal{C}U$ from $\pi_U(x)$ to $\pi_U(y)$ such that $\mathsf{d}_U(\rho_U^V, \gamma) > E$, then $\mathsf{d}_V(x, y) \leq E$.

Definition 3.3 (Relevant domains). Let $D \ge 0$ and let $x, y \in G$. Then $\operatorname{Rel}_D(x, y)$ denotes the collection of all $U \in \mathfrak{S}$ with $d_U(x, y) \ge D$.

Another axiom from [BHS19, Def. 1.1] is the "large link" axiom, which we also will not use directly, but instead use via the following consequence:

Lemma 3.4 (Passing-up Lemma, [BHS19, Lem. 2.5]). For every C > 0 there is an integer P(C) such that the following holds. Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}$ and let $x, y \in G$. If there is a set $\{V_1, \ldots, V_{P(C)}\}$ with $V_i \subseteq U$ and $\mathsf{d}_{V_i}(x, y) > E$ for all i, then there exists some domain $W \subseteq U$ such that $V_i \subseteq W$ for some i and $\mathsf{d}_W(x, y) > C$.

One of the most important features of a hierarchically hyperbolic structure is that one has a "distance formula" [BHS19, Thm 4.5], which allows one to approximate distances in G using projections to the domains.

Theorem 3.5 (Distance formula). Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be an HHG. There exists D_0 , depending only on the HHG structure, such that the following holds. For every $D \ge D_0$ there exists A_D such that for all $x, y \in G$ we have

$$\frac{1}{A_D} \mathsf{d}_G(x, y) - A_D \leqslant \sum_{U \in \operatorname{Rel}_D(x, y)} \mathsf{d}_U(x, y) \leqslant A_D \, \mathsf{d}_G(x, y) + A_D$$

Moreover, the dependence of A_D on D is entirely determined by the HHG structure.

The axioms in [BHS19, Def. 1.1] were chosen largely to enable one to prove Theorem 3.5. We are interested in infinite cyclic subgroups of the HHG (G, \mathfrak{S}) and how they act on the HHG structure. Accordingly, we recall the following definition from [DHS17, §6.1].

Definition 3.6 (Bigsets). Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be an HHG. For each $g \in G$, let $\operatorname{Big}(g)$ be the set of domains $U \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that diam $\pi_U(\langle g \rangle) = \infty$.

For an element g of an HHG (G, \mathfrak{S}) , the set $\operatorname{Big}(g)$ is empty if and only if g has finite order [DHS17, Prop. 6.4]. The following properties are established in [DHS17, §6].

Lemma 3.7. Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be an HHG. Given $g \in G$, write $\operatorname{Big}(g) = \{U_i\}_{i \in I}$.

- (1) $gU_i \in \text{Big}(g)$ for all *i*.
- (2) $U_i \perp U_j$ for all $i \neq j$. In particular, $|I| \leq c$, where c is the complexity of \mathfrak{S} .
- (3) For all $i \in I$, we have $g^{c!}U_i = U_i$, and so $\langle g^{c!} \rangle$ acts on each $\mathcal{C}U_i$ by isometries.
- (4) There exists $D = D(g, \mathfrak{S})$ such that diam $\pi_V(\langle g \rangle) \leq D$ for all $V \notin \operatorname{Big}(g)$.

Remark 3.8. Many of the statements in Lemma 3.7 hold when $\langle g \rangle$ is replaced by more complicated subgroups of G — see [DHS17, §9] and [PS20] — but we will not use this here.

We will use the following proposition, which is [DHS20, Thm 3.1]:

Proposition 3.9. If g is an infinite-order element of an HHG (G, \mathfrak{S}) , of complexity c, then $g^{c!}$ acts loxodromically on CU for all $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$. In particular, $\tau_G(g) > 0$.

The assertion about $\tau_G(g)$ follows since π_U is coarsely Lipschitz and $\langle g^{cl} \rangle$ -equivariant.

The proof of Proposition 3.9 given in [DHS20] relies in an essential way on the constants $D(g, \mathfrak{S})$ from Lemma 3.7.(4) and cannot be adapted to give a lower bound on either $\tau_U(g^{c!})$ or $\tau_G(g)$ that is independent of g. Indeed, we shall see in Section 5 that there need not be a uniform lower bound on $\tau_U(g^{c!})$ that holds for all $U \in \text{Big}(g)$. On the other hand, the following proposition states that $\tau_G(g)$ can be uniformly lower-bounded. This fact, which relies on the results of Section 2, is an important ingredient in establishing Theorem 1.5.

Proposition 3.10 (Uniform undistortion in HHGs). Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be an HHG. There exists $\tau_0 > 0$ such that $\tau_G(g) \ge \tau_0$ for every infinite-order $g \in G$. Hence there exists $K = K(G, \mathfrak{S})$ such that for all infinite-order $g \in G$ and all $x \in G$, we have $\mathsf{d}_G(x, g^n x) > Kn$ for all $n \ge 0$.

Proof. By [HHP20, Cor. 3.8, Lem. 3.10], there is a metrically proper, cobounded action of G on an injective metric space X. Fix a basepoint $x_0 \in X$ and a constant $\mu \ge 1$ such that the orbit map $G \to X$ given by $h \mapsto hx_0$ is a (μ, μ) -quasi-isometry.

By Lemma 2.3, X has barycentres. Since the action of G on X is proper and cobounded, it is uniformly proper. Hence Proposition 2.8 provides a constant $\delta > 0$ such that $\tau_X(g) \ge \delta$ for all infinite-order $g \in G$. A computation shows $\tau_G(g) \ge \frac{\delta}{\mu}$. Recalling that $\tau_G(g^n) \le \mathsf{d}(x, g^n x)$ for all $n \ge 0$ and $x \in G$, and that $\tau_G(g^n) = n\tau_G(g)$, we have $\mathsf{d}_G(x, g^n x) \ge n\delta\mu$. Taking $K = \frac{\delta}{2\mu}$ completes the proof.

4. Proof of Theorem 1.5

Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be a hierarchically hyperbolic group and $g \in G$ an infinite order element, with $\operatorname{Big}(g) = \{U_1, \ldots, U_m\}$. By Lemma 3.7, replacing g by $g^{c!}$, we can and shall assume that $gU_i = U_i$ for all i. Independently of g, we bound $\tau_{U_i}(g)$ below for some i.

Our strategy is as follows. First, we carefully construct a uniform quality quasi-axis for g in each U_i and a point $x \in G$ whose projection to each CU_i lies on this quasi-axis. We next show that the terms in the distance formula for $d(x, g^n x)$ can be divided into two sets: the domains that are orthogonal to all U_i and the domains that nest into some U_i . The first technical step is to give an upper bound to the contribution to $d(x, g^n x)$ from domains that are orthogonal to all U_i . This gives a lower bound on the contribution from domains that nest into some U_i . The second technical step in the proof uses the passing-up lemma and a counting argument to show that, in fact, some U_i itself must have a uniformly large contribution to the distance formula. This will then give a uniform lower bound on the translation length $\tau_{U_i}(g)$. Because the dependence of the constants at each step is crucial to our arguments, we describe every step in detail to make this explicit.

Step 1: Quasi-axes

For each $i \leq m$, Proposition 3.9 says that g acts on CU_i as a loxodromic isometry. A standard fact of hyperbolic spaces is that every loxodromic isometry has a quasiaxis. We make this precise with the following.

Lemma 4.1. There is a constant R such that the following hold. Let $k \ge 1$ be such that CU is k-hyperbolic for all $U \in \mathfrak{S}$. There exists $\alpha_i \subset CU_i$ such that:

- α_i , with the subspace metric inherited from CU_i , is (Rk, Rk)-quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R} ;
- α_i is Rk-quasiconvex; and
- α_i is $\langle g \rangle$ -invariant.

Proof. Since g is loxodromic, g has exactly two fixed points in the Gromov boundary $\partial \mathcal{C}U_i$ [Gro87], and these two points can be joined by a bi-infinite (1, 20k)-quasigeodesic γ (see [KB02, Remark 2.16], for instance). Any two such quasigeodesics lie at Hausdorff-distance at most 50k. In particular, $\alpha' = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} g^n \gamma$ is $\langle g \rangle$ -invariant and 50k-Hausdorff-close to γ . Let α be the union of all geodesic segments in $\mathcal{C}U_i$ whose endpoints lie in α' . Note that $g\alpha = \alpha$ and α is 2k-quasiconvex.

Fix $p \in \gamma$. Since $\tau_{U_i}(g) > 0$, there exists $\ell = \ell(g, p)$ such that $\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(p, g^{\ell n} p) \ge 100k|n|$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let I be a geodesic segment joining p to $g^{\ell}p$, and let $\beta = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} g^{\ell n} I \subset \alpha$.

For each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, there exists $p'_n \in \gamma$ with $\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(p'_n, g^{\ell n}p) \leq 50k$. Since $\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(p'_n, p) \geq 100k|n| - 50k$, any point in γ lies between p'_n and p'_{n+1} for some n, so a thin quadrilateral argument shows $\mathsf{d}_{Haus}(\beta, \gamma) \leq 50k$. Thus β is a quasiline with constants depending only on k, and $\mathsf{d}_{Haus}(\beta, \alpha') \leq 100k$. Since β is uniformly quasiconvex, it then follows that α is uniformly Hausdorff-close to β . Hence α is a uniformly quasiconvex $\langle g \rangle$ -invariant quasiline. Setting $\alpha_i = \alpha$ completes the proof.

Remark 4.2. Since R is a universal constant, there is no harm in increasing E to assume that $E \ge Rk$. Thus, when we later refer to Lemma 4.1, we shall take the constants in its conclusion to all be E. Actually, we shall later make one final increase of E by an amount dependent only on the partial realisation axiom; see Section 4.

Corollary 4.3. Let $x \in \alpha_i$. If n > 0 is such that $\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(x, g^n x) \ge 14E$, then $\tau_{U_i}(g) \ge \frac{E}{n}$.

Proof. Since α_i is *E*-quasiconvex and (E, E)-quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R} , considering the $\langle g \rangle$ -equivariant coarse closest point projection $\mathcal{C}U_i \to \alpha_i$ shows that

$$\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(x, g^n x) \leq \inf_{y \in \mathcal{C}U_i} \mathsf{d}_{U_i}(y, g^n y) + 10E.$$

According to [Lan13, Prop. 1.3], CU_i is E-coarsely dense in its injective hull H, which is E-hyperbolic. Lemma 2.6 shows that there is some $y' \in H$ such that $\mathsf{d}_H(y', g^n y') \leq \tau_{U_i}(g^n) + E$. Choosing $y \in CU_i$ so that $\mathsf{d}_H(y, y') \leq E$, we see that $\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(x, g^n x) \leq n\tau_{U_i}(g) + 13E$. In particular, if $\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(x, g^n x) \geq 14E$, then $\tau_{U_i}(g) \geq \frac{E}{n}$.

In view of this corollary, our task is to produce a uniform constant J, independent of g, such that $d_{U_i}(x, g^J x) > 14E$ for some i.

STEP 2: CHOOSING WHICH POINT TO MOVE

We fix, for the remainder of the proof, a point $x \in G$ as follows. For each $i \in \text{Big}(g)$, fix some $x_i \in \alpha_i$. Since the elements of Big(g) are pairwise orthogonal by Lemma 3.7, the partial realisation axiom [BHS19, Def. 1.1.(8)] provides a point $x \in G$ such that

• $\mathsf{d}_{U_i}(x, x_i) \leq E$ for all i, and

• $\mathsf{d}_V(x, \rho_V^{U_i}) \leq E$ for all pairs (i, V) where either $U_i \subsetneq V$ or $U_i \pitchfork V$.

With one final uniform enlargement of E, for convenience only, we replace each α_i by its E-neighbourhood in $\mathcal{C}U_i$, so that, for this fixed $x \in G$, we have $\pi_{U_i}(x) \in \alpha_i$ for all i.

STEP 3: Organising distance formula terms

Let $E' = \max\{5E, D_0\}$, where D_0 is the constant from the distance formula, Theorem 3.5. First, we partition the E'-relevant domains as follows. Fix $n \ge 0$, and let

 $\mathcal{W}^n = \{ W \in \operatorname{Rel}_{E'}(x, g^n x) : W \perp U_i \text{ for all } i \}$

and

$$\mathcal{V}_i^n = \{ V \in \operatorname{Rel}_{E'}(x, g^n x) : V \sqsubseteq U_i \},\$$

where $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. We denote the union of the \mathcal{V}_i^n by \mathcal{V}^n .

Because U_i nests in itself, we have $U_i \in \mathcal{V}_i^n$ for each i, and $\mathcal{V}_i^n \cap \mathcal{V}_j^n = \emptyset$ for $i \neq j$, as $U_i \perp U_j$. Similarly, $\mathcal{W}^n \cap \mathcal{V}^n = \emptyset$. The sets \mathcal{V}^n and \mathcal{W}^n fit into the following distance estimate.

Lemma 4.4. For all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, if $V \in \operatorname{Rel}_{5E}(x, g^n x)$, then either $V \perp U_i$ for all i, or $V \sqsubseteq U_i$ for some i. Consequently, there exists a constant A independent of n such that

$$\frac{1}{A} \mathsf{d}_G(x, g^n x) - A \leqslant \sum_{V \in \mathcal{V}^n} \mathsf{d}_V(x, g^n x) + \sum_{W \in \mathcal{W}^n} \mathsf{d}_W(x, g^n x) \leqslant A \, \mathsf{d}_G(x, g^n x) + A.$$

Proof. Fix $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. If $V \in \mathfrak{S}$ satisfies $U_i \not\subseteq V$ or $U_i \pitchfork V$ for some *i*, then $\mathsf{d}_V(x, g^s x) \leq 3E$ for all $s \in \mathbb{N}$. To see this, note that $\rho_{g^s V}^{g^s U_i} = \rho_{g^s V}^{U_i}$, since $gU_i = U_i$, and, by definition of *x*, we have $\mathsf{d}_{g^s V}(x, \rho_{g^s V}^{U_i}) \leq E$. We also have $\mathsf{d}_{g^s V}(g^s x, \rho_{g^s V}^{U_i}) = \mathsf{d}_V(x, \rho_V^{U_i}) \leq E$. Hence, it follows from the triangle inequality that $\mathsf{d}_{g^s V}(g^s x, x) \leq 3E$, and translating by g^{-s} gives the desired result. (The extra *E* comes from the fact that ρ_{\bullet}^{\bullet} are sets of diameter at most *E*.) Thus every $V \in \operatorname{Rel}_{5E}(x, g^n x)$ must be either nested in some U_i , or orthogonal to all U_i . In particular, $\operatorname{Rel}_{E'}(x, g^n x) = \mathcal{V}^n \cup \mathcal{W}^n$. The second statement is given by the distance formula, Theorem 3.5, with threshold $E' \geq D_0$.

STEP 4: CONTROLLING ORTHOGONAL TERMS

Next, we give a lower bound on the contribution to $\mathsf{d}_G(x, g^n x)$ coming from elements of \mathcal{V}^n by finding an upper bound on the contribution to $\mathsf{d}_G(x, g^n x)$ coming from elements of \mathcal{W}^n .

Lemma 4.5. Given $E' \ge \max\{5E, D_0\}$, there exist $\epsilon = \epsilon(\mathfrak{S}, E') > 0$ and N = N(g, x, E') as follows. For all $n \ge N$, there exists $U_k \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$ satisfying

$$\sum_{V \in \mathcal{V}_k^n} \mathsf{d}_V(x, g^n x) \ge \epsilon n$$

Proof. By Lemma 3.7(4), there is a constant $D = D(\mathfrak{S}, g, x)$ such that $\operatorname{diam}(\pi_V(\langle g \rangle \cdot x)) < D$ for all $V \notin \operatorname{Big}(g)$. Lemma 3.7 is stated for x = 1, but the bound for x = 1 yields a bound for arbitrary x in terms of $d_G(1, x)$ and E, since the maps π_V are all (E, E)-coarsely Lipschitz.

<u>Claim</u>: There is a constant P such that $\sum_{W \in \mathcal{W}^n} d_W(x, g^n x) \leq PD$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

<u>Proof:</u> Let $C = \max\{5E, 2D\}$. Let P = P(C) be the constant from the passing-up lemma, Lemma 3.4. Fix $n \ge 0$. By definition, \mathcal{W}^n is disjoint from $\operatorname{Big}(g)$, so $\mathsf{d}_W(x, g^n x) \le D$ for all $W \in \mathcal{W}^n$. Thus, if the claim did not hold then we would have $|\mathcal{W}^n| > P$. Also by definition, $\mathsf{d}_W(x, g^n x) > E$ for all $W \in \mathcal{W}^n$. By the passing-up lemma, this would imply the existence of some $V \in \mathfrak{S}$ such that $V \supseteq W$ for some $W \in \mathcal{W}^n$, and with $\mathsf{d}_V(x, g^n x) > C \ge D$. The latter property forces V to lie in $\operatorname{Big}(g)$, but then $W \subsetneq V$ and $W \perp V$, which is a contradiction. \diamondsuit

Proposition 3.10 provides a positive $K = K(G, \mathfrak{S})$ such that $\mathsf{d}_G(x, g^n x) > Kn$ for all $n \ge 0$. For such n we have

$$\frac{Kn}{A} - A \leqslant \sum_{V \in \mathcal{V}^n} d_V(x, g^n x) + \sum_{W \in \mathcal{W}^n} d_V(x, g^n x),$$

where A, provided by Lemma 4.4, is independent of n. By the claim, the latter term is bounded above by PD, which is independent of n. Let $N = \frac{2A}{K}(A + PD)$. We have shown that if $n \ge N$, then

$$\sum_{V \in \mathcal{V}^n} d_V(x, g^n x) \ge \frac{Kn}{A} - A - PD \ge \frac{Kn}{2A}.$$

Since the \mathcal{V}_k^n are disjoint for fixed *n*, the conclusion holds with $\epsilon = \frac{K}{2Am}$, where $m = |\operatorname{Big}(g)|$ is bounded by the complexity of \mathfrak{S} and *K* and *A* are independent of both *n* and *g*.

For the remainder of the proof of Theorem 1.5, fix a domain $U = U_k$ such that the conclusion of Lemma 4.5 holds for arbitrarily large n. Let \mathbb{N}_{ϵ} be the set of such n, and let $\alpha = \alpha_k$.

STEP 5: Accumulating distance in Nested Domains

There are now two cases to consider, depending on how the sum in Lemma 4.5 is distributed over \mathcal{V}_k^n . In each case, we will find a uniform lower bound on $\tau_U(g)$, which will complete the proof of the theorem.

Case 1: No relevant proper nesting.

If, for our chosen U, all of the properly nested domains are E'-irrelevant for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\epsilon}$, then the proof of the theorem concludes by applying Lemma 4.5.

Corollary 4.6. If $\mathsf{d}_V(x, g^n x) < 5E$ for all $V \subsetneq U$ and every $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\epsilon}$, then $\tau_U(g) \ge \epsilon$.

Proof. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\epsilon}$, we must have $\mathcal{V}_{k}^{n} = \{U\}$, and Lemma 4.5 then gives $\mathsf{d}_{U}(x, g^{n}x) > \epsilon n$. Since $\tau_{U}(g) = \lim_{n \in \mathbb{N}_{\epsilon}} \mathsf{d}_{U}(x, g^{n}x)/n$, we conclude that $\tau_{U}(g) \ge \epsilon$.

Since $\epsilon = \epsilon(\mathfrak{S}, E')$, this completes the proof in this case.

Case 2: Relevant proper nesting.

Suppose the assumption of Corollary 4.6 does not hold. That is, assume there is some $n \in \mathbb{N}_{\epsilon}$ and some $V_n \subsetneq U$ such that $\mathsf{d}_{V_n}(x, g^n x) > 5E$. If there is more than one such V_n , fix a \sqsubseteq -maximal choice.

If $d_U(x, gx) > 14E$, then, since $\pi_U(x) \in \alpha$, Corollary 4.3 implies that $\tau_U(g) > E$, and the theorem is proved for the given g. Hence we can assume that $d_U(x, gx) \leq 14E$.

The intuition behind the strategy of this part of the proof is as follows. First, we find a domain V that (intuitively, though not precisely) is relevant for x and any point further along the axis of g in CU than $g^k x$ for some k: see Figure 1. The specific way we find V also shows that for any i, the domain $g^i V$ is relevant for x and any point further along the axis than $g^{k+i}x$. If i is large enough, then there are lots of domains $g^j V$ that are relevant for the fixed pair of points x and $g^{k+i}x$; in fact, most of the domains $g^j V$ with 0 < j < i are relevant. The passing up lemma gives a uniform upper bound on the number of possible relevant domains that can appear before $\mathsf{d}_U(x, g^{k+i}x)$ must be uniformly large. From this, we deduce a uniform lower bound on translation length. Making this argument precise takes some care.

Lemma 4.7. Under the above assumptions, there exists $V \subsetneq U$ and a natural number k such that the following hold.

(i)
$$d_U(x, g^k x) \leq 50E.$$

(ii) $d_U(\{x, g^k x\}, \rho_U^V) > 5E.$
(iii) If $j < 0$, then $d_V(g^j x, x) \leq E.$
(iv) If $j > k$, then $d_V(g^k x, g^j x) \leq E.$
(v) $d_V(x, g^k x) > 5E.$
(vi) If $V \subsetneq W \subsetneq U$, then $d_W(x, g^k x) \leq 5E.$

Proof. By Lemma 3.2, every geodesic from $\pi_U(x)$ to $\pi_U(g^n x)$ must come *E*-close to $\rho_U^{V_n}$. Since α is 2*E*-quasiconvex, there is some point $y \in \alpha$ such that $\rho_U^{V_n}$ is contained in the 3*E*-neighbourhood of y.



FIGURE 1. The properties of the domain $V \subsetneq U$ constructed in Lemma 4.7.



FIGURE 2. Finding the domain $V \subsetneq U$.

Because x lies on the quasiaxis α of g, there exist $k_0 < k_1$ with $k_1 - k_0$ minimal such that: $\mathsf{d}_U(g^{k_i}x, y) > 10E$ and there is some 2E-quasigeodesic from $g^{k_0}x$ to $g^{k_1}x$ that contains y. Let $V = g^{-k_0}V_n$, and let $k = k_1 - k_0$. See Figure 2.

Item (i) holds because $k_1 - k_0$ was minimal and we are assuming that $\mathsf{d}_U(x, gx) \leq 14E$. Item (ii) holds by construction. Moreover, if j < 0, then no geodesic from $\pi_U(g^j x)$ to $\pi_U(x)$ can come 5*E*-close to y, and hence cannot come *E*-close to ρ_U^V . Lemma 3.2 thus implies that $\mathsf{d}_V(g^j x, x) \leq E$, and so (iii) holds. Item (iv) holds for a similar reason. Together with the assumption on V_n , these imply (v). The final item holds since V_n is \sqsubseteq -maximal. \Box

Now fix k and $V \not\subseteq U$ as in the above lemma. Let J denote the minimal natural number such that $\mathsf{d}_U(x, g^J x) > 400E$. Note that, although J is independent of V, in principle it may depend on g. The next two lemmas show that, in fact, J is bounded independently of g. We can therefore assume that $J \ge 12$.

We shall consider the set of all *i* such that $g^i \rho_U^V$ is approximately half-way between $\pi_U(x)$ and $\pi_U(g^J x)$; see Figure 3 for a schematic of the situation. Precisely, let

$$\mathcal{I} = \left\{ i \in \mathbb{Z} : \frac{J}{3} < i \leq k + i < \frac{2J}{3} \right\}.$$



FIGURE 3. A schematic of the sets $g^i \rho_U^V = \rho_U^{g^i V}$ when $i \in \mathcal{I}$ in $\mathcal{C}U$.

Lemma 4.8. 6k < J, and $|\mathcal{I}| \ge \frac{J}{12}$.

Proof. By definition, $|\mathcal{I}| \ge \frac{J}{3} - k - 1$. Moreover, the choice of k gives $\mathsf{d}_U(x, g^{6k}x) \le 300E$. Because J is minimal with $\mathsf{d}_U(x, g^J x) > 400E$, and because $\mathsf{d}_U(x, gx) \le 14E$, we have 6k < J. This shows that $|\mathcal{I}| \ge \frac{J}{6} - 1$, and we are done because we are assuming that $J \ge 12$.

Given a number C, let P(C) be the quantity given by the passing-up lemma, Lemma 3.4.

Lemma 4.9. $|\mathcal{I}| < P(7E)$.

Proof. If $i \in \mathcal{I}$, then i > 0, so by Lemma 4.7(iv) we have $\mathsf{d}_{g^i V}(x, g^i x) = \mathsf{d}_V(g^{-i}x, x) \leq E$. Similarly, J - i > k, and so by Lemma 4.7(iv), $\mathsf{d}_{g^i V}(g^{k+i}x, g^J x) = \mathsf{d}_V(g^k x, g^{J-i}x) \leq E$. By the triangle inequality and Lemma 4.7(v), we therefore have

$$\mathsf{d}_{g^iV}(x,g^Jx) > \mathsf{d}_{g^iV}(g^ix,g^{k+i}x) - 2E > 5E - 2E > E.$$

Because g acts loxodromically on $\mathcal{C}U$, no power can stabilise any bounded set. In particular, ρ_U^V is not stabilised by any g^n , and hence the $g^i V$ are pairwise distinct. Thus, if $|\mathcal{I}| \ge P(7E)$, then Lemma 3.4 produces a domain $W \subsetneq U$ such that $\mathsf{d}_W(x, g^J x) > 7E$ and some $g^i V$ is properly nested in W. Consistency then implies that $\rho_U^{g^{-i}W}$ is E-close to ρ_U^V .

Consider the domain $g^{-i}W$, into which V is properly nested. Lemma 4.7 implies that no geodesic from $\pi_U(g^{-i}x)$ to $\pi_U(x)$ can come E-close to $\rho_U^{g^{-i}W}$, and hence $\mathsf{d}_W(g^{-i}x,x) \leq E$ by Lemma 3.2. Also $i < \frac{2J}{3} - k$, so by Lemma 4.8 we have J - i > 3k. Hence Lemmas 3.2 and 4.7 similarly imply that $\mathsf{d}_{g^{-i}W}(g^{J-i}x,g^Jx) \leq E$. It follows from the triangle inequality that $\mathsf{d}_{g^{-i}W}(x,g^Jx) > 5E$, which contradicts Lemma 4.7.

Corollary 4.10. If the supposition of Corollary 4.6 fails, then $\tau_U(g) \ge \frac{E}{12P(7E)}$.

Proof. By Lemmas 4.8 and 4.9, we see that there is a number $J \leq 12P(7E)$ such that $d_U(x, g^J x) > 14E$. The result follows from Corollary 4.3.

Since $\frac{E}{12P(7E)}$ depends only on (G, \mathfrak{S}) , this completes the proof of Theorem 1.5.

5. \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness: examples and counterexamples

We now discuss sharpness of Theorem 1.5. Recall from Lemma 3.7 that $g^{c!}U = U$ for $g \in G$ and $U \in \text{Big}(g)$.

Definition 5.1. A hierarchically hyperbolic group (G, \mathfrak{S}) is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete if there exists $\tau_0 > 0$ such that for all infinite-order $g \in G$, we have $\tau_U(g^{c!}) \ge \tau_0$ for all $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$.

There are two ways in which \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness is stronger than the conclusion of Theorem 1.5: Theorem 1.5 only requires $\tau_U(g^{c!})$ to be uniformly bounded away from 0 for some $U \in \operatorname{Big}(g)$, and it does not rule out the possibility that the same U supports other elements $h \in G$ with $U \in \operatorname{Big}(h)$ but $\tau_U(h^{c!})$ arbitrarily small.

We now show that Theorem 1.5 is sharp by exhibiting HHG structures that are not \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete. These examples also show that a group G can admit HHG structures \mathfrak{S}_1 and \mathfrak{S}_2 such that G is \mathfrak{S}_1 -translation discrete but not \mathfrak{S}_2 -translation discrete.

We start with a strikingly simple example of some subtleties that can arise.

Example 5.2. Let $\mathbb{Z}^2 = \langle a, t \mid [a, t] \rangle$. For each $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, there is an HHG structure $(\mathbb{Z}^2, \mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon})$ defined as follows. First, $\mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon} = \{S, U, V\}$, where CS is a point and CU, CV are copies of \mathbb{R} , and $U \perp V$, while $U, V \equiv S$. Define $\pi_U, \pi_V \colon \mathbb{Z}^2 \to CU, CV$ by $\pi_U(a^p t^q) = (p+q)\varepsilon - p$ and $\pi_V(a^p t^q) = p$ for $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$. The maps $\pi_S \colon \mathbb{Z}^2 \to CS$ and ρ_S^U, ρ_S^V are defined in the only possible way. We make two observations about $(\mathbb{Z}^2, \mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon})$:

- By construction, $\tau_U(a^p t^q) = \pi_U(a^p t^q) = (p+q)\varepsilon p$. In particular, if ε is irrational, then τ_U takes arbitrarily small positive values, so \mathbb{Z}^2 is not $\mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon}$ -translation discrete.
- Whilst π_U and π_V vary with ε , most of the hierarchical hyperbolicity parameters need not. The exception is the *uniqueness function*, which necessarily depends on ε . One can then check that the constant A from the distance formula (Theorem 3.5) is of the order $O(\frac{1}{\varepsilon})$. Thus, although the translation length $\tau_{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is independent of ε , the constant $\frac{K}{2A}$ from Lemma 4.5 diverges as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Hence Corollary 4.6 shows that the constant τ_0 in Theorem 1.5 is crucially dependent on the HHG structure $(G, \mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon})$.

One can vary the above examples by fixing $\delta \in (0, 1)$ and redefining $\pi_V(a^p b^q) = (p+q)\delta - q$, while keeping π_U as above. There is then an uncountable subcollection of pairs (δ, ε) , each yielding an HHG structure $(\mathbb{Z}^2, \mathfrak{S}_{\delta,\varepsilon})$, such that the HHS constants, including uniqueness, can be chosen uniformly over this family of HHG structures. Theorem 1.5 then *forces* the existence of a single τ_0 that works for all of these uniform structures, but for uncountably many of these (δ, ε) , the HHG $(\mathbb{Z}^2, \mathfrak{S}_{\delta,\varepsilon})$ is not $\mathfrak{S}_{\delta,\varepsilon}$ -translation discrete.

Example 5.2 is somewhat unsatisfying, since there is a more obvious HHG structure \mathfrak{S} such that \mathbb{Z}^2 is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete, namely the case $\varepsilon = 1$. This leaves open the possibility that every HHG has a structure (G, \mathfrak{S}) that is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete. Below, we will produce examples of HHGs (G, \mathfrak{S}) that are more interesting than the above \mathbb{Z}^2 example for the reason that, whilst we show they are not \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete, we do not know whether there is some other structure (G, \mathfrak{S}') such that G is \mathfrak{S}' -translation discrete. We achieve this by exhibiting many central extensions of HHGs that are again HHGs, and showing that *any* such central extension admits an HHG structure that is not \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete. First, though, we discuss \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness for the most well-known HHG structures.

5.1. Positive examples

Here we motivate the upcoming construction of HHG structures that are not \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete by discussing some well-known HHGs.

As observed by Bowditch in [Bow08, Lem. 2.2] (or by Proposition 2.8), acylindrical actions on a hyperbolic spaces are translation discrete (positive translation lengths are uniformly bounded away from zero). Together with [BHS17, Thm 14.3], this shows that if (G, \mathfrak{S}) is an HHG and $S \in \mathfrak{S}$ is the unique \sqsubseteq -maximal element, then $\tau_S(g)$ is uniformly bounded below for $g \in G$ satisfying Big $(g) = \{S\}$. This falls short of \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness, but motivates the following terminology from [DHS17]. We say that (G, \mathfrak{S}) is *hierarchically acylindrical* if, for all $U \in \mathfrak{S}$, the action of $\operatorname{Stab}_G(U) = \{g \in G : gU = U\}$ on $\mathcal{C}U$ factors through an acylindrical action, i.e., the image of $\operatorname{Stab}_G(U) \to \operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{C}U)$ acts acylindrically on $\mathcal{C}U$.

Proposition 5.3. If (G, \mathfrak{S}) is hierarchically acylindrical, it is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete.

Examples covered by Proposition 5.3 include the standard HHG structures on fundamental groups of compact special cube complexes. For such G with the hierarchically hyperbolic structure \mathfrak{S} from [BHS17], each $\operatorname{Stab}_G(U)$ is virtually a direct product of virtually compact special groups (see, e.g., [Zal23, Lemma 3.11]), one of which inherits an HHG structure where U is the \sqsubseteq -maximal element. By [BHS17, Thm 14.3], (G, \mathfrak{S}) is hierarchically acylindrical.

Nevertheless, many examples of HHGs are not hierarchically acylindrical. Indeed, Example 5.2 shows that even \mathbb{Z}^2 admits uncountably many HHG structures that are not hierarchically acylindrical—the following discussion is concerned with more usual structures. Examples are provided by irreducible lattices in products of trees, as constructed in [BM00, Wis07, Hug22]; see [DHS20]. In these examples, though, every $\mathcal{C}U$ is a tree, so loxodromic elements have combinatorial geodesic axes and hence the lattices are \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete. Mapping class groups also provide examples, as we now clarify.

Let S be a connected, orientable, hyperbolic surface S of finite type. The mapping class group MCG(S) admits a hierarchically hyperbolic structure (MCG(S), \mathfrak{S}), described in [BHS19, §11] using results in [MM99, MM00, BKMM12, Beh06], where \mathfrak{S} is the set of isotopy classes of essential (not necessarily connnected) non-pants subsurfaces. For each $U \in \mathfrak{S}$, the associated hyperbolic space is the curve graph $\mathcal{C}U$. When U is non-annular, the action of Stab(U) on C factors through the action of MCG(U) on $\mathcal{C}U$, which is acylindrical [Bow08, Thm 1.3], so translation lengths of $\mathcal{C}U$ -loxodromic elements of Stab(U) are uniformly bounded below in terms of the topology of U (and hence in terms of the topology of S). However, this does not apply when U is an annulus, in view of the following fact, which is well-known but for which we have been unable to locate a reference.

Proposition 5.4. Let S be a connected, orientable, finite-type surface with positive genus and one boundary component. Let γ be the boundary curve, and let $C(\gamma)$ be the associated annular curve graph. The action of MCG(S) on $C(\gamma)$ does not factor through an acylindrical action.

The annular curve graph $C(\gamma)$ and the action are described in [MM00, §2]. The proposition holds for stabilisers of curves in mapping class groups of more general surfaces, by a virtually identical argument, but we restrict our attention to surfaces with one boundary component for concreteness.

Proof of Proposition 5.4. For a surface U, write $G_U = \text{MCG}(U)$. Let S_0 be the surface obtained from S by attaching a punctured disc, identifying γ with the boundary of the disc. The action of G_S on S_0 gives a surjective homomorphism $\phi: G_S \to G_{S_0}$ whose kernel is $T = \langle t \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}$, where t denotes the Dehn twist about γ . This "capping homomorphism" yields a central extension

$$1 \to T \hookrightarrow G_S \xrightarrow{\phi} G_{S_0} \to 1;$$

see [FM12, Prop. 3.19], for instance.

Let $\psi: G_S \to \text{Isom } \mathcal{C}(\gamma)$ be the action, and suppose that $\psi(G_S)$ acts acylindrically on $\mathcal{C}(\gamma)$. Since $\psi(t)$ acts loxodromically and $\mathcal{C}(\gamma)$ is quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R} (see [MM00, §2]), the subgroup $\psi(T)$ has finite index in $\psi(G_S)$, by [DG017, Lem. 6.7].

Let $G'_S = \psi^{-1}(\psi(T))$, which has finite index in G_S . Since $\psi|_T$ is injective, the map $r: g \mapsto \psi|_T^{-1}(\psi(g))$ is a retraction of G'_S onto T. Let $N = \ker(r)$. Since $N \cap T$ is trivial and T is central in G'_S , we have $G'_S = T \times N$. Also, $\phi|_N: N \to G_{S_0}$ is injective and has finite-index

image. Letting $[\alpha] \in H^2(G_{S_0}, \mathbb{Z})$ be the cohomology class associated to the central extension given by ϕ , it follows from [FS20, Lem. 5.13] that $[\alpha]$ has finite order in $H^2(G_{S_0}, \mathbb{Z})$. On the other hand, $[\alpha]$ is the Euler class for G_{S_0} , which is known to have infinite order [FM12, §5.5.6]. This is a contradiction, so $\psi(G_S)$ cannot act acylindrically on $\mathcal{C}(\gamma)$.

Despite Proposition 5.4, there is a uniform lower bound on $\tau_U(g)$ when U is an annulus and $g \in \operatorname{Stab}(U)$ acts on $\mathcal{C}U$ loxodromically. Hence, while $(\operatorname{MCG}(S), \mathfrak{S})$ is not hierarchically acylindrical, it is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete.¹

5.2. QUASIMORPHISMS, CENTRAL EXTENSIONS, AND BOUNDED CLASSES

Here we recall some facts needed for our construction, referring the reader to [Bro94, Ch. IV.3] for background on central extensions and [Cal09, Fri17] for quasimorphisms.

Let Γ be a group, and let $R \in \{\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{R}\}$. A quasimorphism is a map $q: \Gamma \to R$ such that there exists $D < \infty$ for which

$$|q(g) + q(h) - q(gh)| \le D$$

for all $g, h \in \Gamma$. The infimal D for which this holds is the *defect* of q, denoted D(q). A quasimorphism q is *homogeneous* if $q(g^n) = nq(g)$ for all $g \in \Gamma$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Given any quasimorphism q, the *homogenisation* $\hat{q} \colon \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ is the homogeneous quasimorphism given by

$$\hat{q}(g) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{q(g^n)}{n},$$

which has defect at most 2D(q).

For a group G, we consider central extensions

$$1 \to \mathbb{Z} \to E \xrightarrow{\phi} G \to 1.$$

We always use t to denote a generator of the kernel of ϕ . The group E is determined up to isomorphism by a cohomology class $[\alpha] \in H^2(G, \mathbb{Z})$ (viewing \mathbb{Z} as a trivial $\mathbb{Z}G$ -module). More precisely, letting the 2-cocycle $\alpha: G^2 \to \mathbb{Z}$ represent $[\alpha]$, there is an isomorphism $\psi_{\alpha}: E \to E_{\alpha}$, where E_{α} has underlying set $G \times \mathbb{Z}$ and group operation $*_{\alpha}$ given by

$$(g,p) *_{\alpha} (h,q) = (gh, p+q+\alpha(g,h));$$

see, e.g., [Bro94, p. 91–92]. We always assume α is *normalised*, i.e., $\alpha(g, 1) = \alpha(1, g) = 0$ for all $g \in G$, which is used implicitly in defining $*_{\alpha}$ but not needed later.

The extension E is said to *arise from a bounded class* if we can moreover take α to be bounded as a function to \mathbb{Z} . In this case, E is quasiisometric to $G \times \mathbb{R}$ [Ger92, Thm 3.1]. We are interested in certain quasimorphisms on such E.

First, consider the map $q_{\alpha} = \eta \psi_{\alpha} \colon E \to \mathbb{Z}$, where $\eta \colon E_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{Z}$ is the natural projection to the second factor. As observed in [HRSS22, Lem. 4.1] and [HMS21, Lem. 4.3], q_{α} is a quasimorphism with $q_{\alpha}(t^n) = n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ (perhaps after inverting t), by boundedness of α .

Let $\hat{q}_{\alpha}: E \to \mathbb{R}$ be the homogenisation of q_{α} . For each infinite-order $g \in G$, the subgroup $P_g = \phi^{-1}(\langle g \rangle)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^2 and contains t. The quasimorphism \hat{q}_{α} restricts to a homogeneous quasimorphism $\hat{q}_{\alpha}: P_g \to \mathbb{R}$, and, since P_g is abelian, $\hat{q}_{\alpha}|_{P_g}$ is a homomorphism by [Cal09, Prop. 2.65]. We will use this homomorphism to choose an element $\bar{g} \in P_g$ and a constant $\kappa_g \in \mathbb{Z}$, which will be useful in the next section.

The rank of ker $(\hat{q}_{\alpha}|_{P_g})$ is 0 or 1. Suppose the kernel is nontrivial and choose a generator \bar{g} of ker $(\hat{q}_{\alpha}|_{P_g})$. Hence there is a unique pair of integers κ_g, θ_g such that $\psi_{\alpha}(\bar{g}) = (g^{\kappa_g}, \theta_g)$. Since

¹See https://mathoverflow.net/questions/439665/translation-length-on-annular-curve-graphs, where a proof using stable train tracks is sketched by Sam Nead and Lee Mosher.

 $\hat{q}_{\alpha}(t) = 1$, we have $\kappa_g \neq 0$. On the other hand, if $\hat{q}_{\alpha} \colon P_g \to \mathbb{R}$ is injective, choose $\bar{g} \in P_g - \langle t \rangle$ arbitrarily and let $\kappa_g = 0$.

For any homogeneous quasimorphism $\hat{p}: G \to \mathbb{R}$ on G, the map $\hat{p}\phi: E \to \mathbb{R}$ is a homogeneous quasimorphism with $\hat{p}\phi(t) = 0$. Hence $\hat{r} = \hat{q}_{\alpha} + \hat{p}\phi$ is a homogeneous quasimorphism on E, and $\hat{r}(t) = 1$ since $\hat{p}\phi(t) = \hat{p}(1) = 0$ by homogeneity of \hat{p} .

5.3. Quasimorphisms taking arbitrarily small values

We present two constructions: the first is simpler, and the second is similar to that in [BBF19] and yields more information. Various other constructions could be used instead.

5.3.1. Generalising Example 5.2.

Let G be an arbitrary group admitting a nontrivial homogeneous quasimorphism $\hat{p}: G \to \mathbb{R}$. Fix $g \in G$ with $\hat{p}(g) \neq 0$. By homogeneity, g must have infinite order, and by rescaling we can assume that $\hat{p}(g) = 1$. Let $\phi: E \to G$ be a \mathbb{Z} -central extension arising from a bounded cocycle α , and let $q_{\alpha}: E \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the quasimorphism $q_{\alpha} = \eta \psi_{\alpha}$ considered above. Let \hat{q}_{α} be its homogenisation, and, given $\delta, \epsilon \geq 0$, let $\hat{r} = \delta \hat{q}_{\alpha} + \epsilon \hat{p} \phi$. Recall that \hat{r} is a homomorphism on $P_g \cong \mathbb{Z}^2$, and note that $\hat{r}(t) = \delta \hat{q}_{\alpha}(t) = \delta$. If \hat{q}_{α} is non-injective on P_g , then, letting \bar{g}, κ_g be defined as above, we have $\hat{r}(\bar{g}) = \epsilon \kappa_g$. So if, for instance, $(\delta, \epsilon) = (1, \sqrt{2})$, the map \hat{r} takes arbitrarily small positive values on P_g and hence on E. If \hat{q}_{α} is injective on P_g , then we can take $\delta = 1, \varepsilon = 0$. In this case, $\hat{r}(t) = 1$, so by injectivity, $\hat{r}(\bar{g})$ is irrational for the choice of \bar{g} above, and thus $\hat{r}(P_g)$ is dense, so \hat{r} takes arbitrarily small positive values on E.

5.3.2. Combinations of Brooks quasimorphisms.

Let G be a finitely generated group admitting a nonelementary acylindrical action on a hyperbolic geodesic metric space.

We first consider the case where the action is nonelementary. By [DGO17, Thm 6.14], there exist $a, b \in G$ such that: $\langle a, b \rangle = F$ is a free group; G has a maximal finite normal subgroup N; we have $\langle N, a, b \rangle \cong N \times F$; and $N \times F$ is hyperbolically embedded in G.

Given a reduced, cyclically reduced word $w \in F$, define $\#_w \colon F \to \mathbb{R}$ by letting $\#_w(x)$ be the maximum cardinality of a set of disjoint subwords of x, each of which is equal to w. The small Brooks quasimorphism $h_w \colon F \to \mathbb{Z}$ is given by $h_w(x) = \#_w(x) - \#_{w^{-1}}(x)$ [Bro81]. By [Cal09, Prop. 2.30], h_w is a quasimorphism with defect at most 2.

Define $g_i = (a^i b^i)^{101}$. This concrete choice is somewhat arbitrary, but satisfies certain smallcancellation conditions, as in [Bow98, TV00]. Observe that g_i is not a subword of $g_j^{\pm n}$ if $j \neq i$, nor is it a subword of g_i^{-n} . This shows that the corresponding small Brooks quasimorphisms satisfy $h_{g_i}(g_i^n) = n$ and $h_{g_i}(g_i^n) = 0$ for all $j \neq i$.

Let $(\lambda_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of nonzero real numbers with $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_i| < \infty$. Define

$$p_F = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \lambda_i h_{g_i}.$$

Observe that the above sum is finite for all $x \in F$, because $h_{g_i}(x) = 0$ if $|g_i| > |x|$. Thus, because the h_{g_i} are quasimorphisms with defect at most 2, the map p_F is a quasimorphism with defect at most $2\sum_i |\lambda_i| < \infty$. The homogenisation \hat{p}_F of p_F satisfies $\hat{p}_F(g_i) = \lambda_i$ for all *i*; in particular, $|\hat{p}_F|$ takes arbitrarily small positive values.

Extend \hat{p}_F over $N \times F$ by declaring \hat{p}_F to vanish on N. Viewed as a 1-cocycle, \hat{p}_F is *antisymmetric* (by virtue of being homogeneous). Since $N \times F$ is hyperbolically embedded in

G, [HO13, Thm 1.4] provides a quasimorphism $p: G \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$L = \sup_{x \in N \times F} |\hat{p}_F(x) - p(x)| < \infty$$

The homogenisation $\hat{p}: G \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies $\hat{p}|F = \hat{p}_F$. In particular, $\hat{p}(g_i) = \lambda_i$ for all i, so $|\hat{p}|$ takes arbitrarily small positive values on G.

5.3.3. Summary.

We can now prove the following corollary, our first tool for constructing HHG structures that are not \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete.

Corollary 5.5. Let $\phi: E \to G$ be a \mathbb{Z} -central extension, associated to a bounded cohomology class, of a group G that admits a nontrivial homogeneous quasimorphism. There exists a homogeneous quasimorphism $\hat{r}: E \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

• $\hat{r}(t) = 1$, and

• for all $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $e \in E$ such that $\hat{r}(e) \in (0, \epsilon)$.

Moreover, if G has a nonelementary acylindrical action on a hyperbolic space, then \hat{r} can be chosen with $\lim_{i\to\infty} \hat{r}(e_i) = 0$, where $(\phi(e_i)_i)_i$ is some sequence of loxodromic elements of G.

Proof. As explained in Section 5.3.1, there exists \hat{r} satisfying the itemised properties as soon as G admits a nontrivial homogeneous quasimorphism.

If G is acylindrically hyperbolic, then we can make a more specific choice of \hat{r} as follows. First, let $(g_i)_i$ be loxodromic elements of G chosen as in Section 5.3.2. For each i, let κ_{g_i} be the integer chosen above by considering the restriction of \hat{q}_{α} to P_{g_i} , and let $\bar{g}_i \in P_{g_i}$ be the associated element. For each i, if $\kappa_{g_i} = 0$, let $\lambda_i = 0$, and otherwise let $\lambda_i = \frac{1}{2^i \kappa_{g_i}}$. Let $\hat{p}: G \to \mathbb{R}$ be the resulting homogeneous quasimorphism from Section 5.3.2.

Now let $\hat{r} = \hat{q}_{\alpha} + \hat{p}\phi$. As before, $\hat{r}(t) = 1$. Now, for each *i* such that $\kappa_{g_i} \neq 0$, we chose \bar{g}_i such that $\hat{q}_{\alpha}(\bar{g}_i) = 0$ and we chose κ_{g_i} so that $\hat{p}\phi(\bar{g}_i) = \kappa_{g_i}\hat{p}(g_i)$. Hence $\hat{r}(\bar{g}_i) = \frac{1}{2^i}$.

If $\kappa_{g_i} = 0$, then $\hat{p}(g_i) = \lambda_i = 0$, so $\hat{p}\phi$ vanishes on P_{g_i} , so $\hat{r} = \hat{q}_\alpha$ on P_{g_i} . Also, in this case, \hat{q}_α is an injective homomorphism on P_{g_i} , and \bar{g}_i was chosen outside of $\langle t \rangle$, and thus $\hat{q}_\alpha(\bar{g}_i) \notin \mathbb{Q}$. Thus, by applying powers of t, we can assume $0 < \hat{r}(\bar{g}_i) \leq \frac{1}{2^i}$.

Observing that $\phi(\bar{g}_i)$ is a nonzero power of g_i , we are done, taking $e_i = \bar{g}_i$.

5.4. HHG CONSTRUCTIONS

Here we construct HHG structures that are not \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete. The next lemma is [ABO19, Lem. 4.15], except that we have extracted an additional consequence of their proof.

Lemma 5.6 (Quasilines from quasimorphisms). Let Γ be a group and let $\hat{s}: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ be a nonvanishing homogeneous quasimorphism. There exists a graph L, quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R} , and a vertex-transitive, isometric action of Γ on L that fixes both ends of L. Moreover, there exists K such that for all $g \in \Gamma$ we have

$$\frac{1}{K}|\hat{s}(g)| \leq \tau_L(g) \leq K|\hat{s}(g)|,$$

where $\tau_L(g)$ denotes the stable translation length of g on L.

Proof. Fix any positive number C_0 such that there is some $g_0 \in \Gamma$ with $|\hat{s}(g_0)| = C_0$.

Let $C \ge 2D(\hat{s})$ be such that there is some $g \in \Gamma$ with $\hat{s}(g) \in (0, C/2)$. According to [ABO19, Lem. 4.15], the set \mathcal{A} of $g \in \Gamma$ such that $|\hat{s}(g)| < C$ generates Γ . Let $L = \text{Cay}(\Gamma, \mathcal{A})$. As explained in [ABO19], L is quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R} , and the action of Γ fixes the ends of L. The proof of [ABO19, Lem. 4.15] shows that

$$\frac{2C|\hat{s}(g)|}{3} \leqslant \mathsf{d}_L(1,g) \leqslant \frac{|\hat{s}(g)|}{C_0} + 2,$$

for all $g \in \Gamma$, from which the statement about translation lengths follows.

Remark 5.7. One could deduce Lemma 5.6 from [Man06, Prop. 3.1]; we thank Alice Kerr for this observation. A more general statement [KL09, Cor. 1.1] about quasi-actions also works.

The following lemma is extracted from the proof of [HRSS22, Cor. 4.3].

Lemma 5.8. Let $\phi: E \to G$ be a \mathbb{Z} -central extension of a finitely generated group G. Suppose that E acts by isometries on a graph L that is quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R} . Suppose further that $\tau_L(t) > 0$, where t generates ker ϕ . When $G \times L$ is equipped with the ℓ^1 -metric, the diagonal action of E is metrically proper and cobounded.

Proof. Fix a base vertex $x \in L$, and let B be such that L is covered by the $\langle t \rangle$ -translates of the ball $B_L(x, B)$. For each $g \in G$, choose $e_g \in \phi^{-1}(g)$ such that $d_L(x, e_g x) \leq B$, which is possible because t generates ker ϕ .

Properness. As t is loxodromic on L, there exists K such that $d_L(x, t^n x) \ge K|n| - K$ for all n. Given $R \ge 0$, let $G_R = \{g \in G : \mathsf{d}_G(1, g) \le R\}$, which is finite since G is finitely generated.

Suppose $e \in E$ moves (1, x) a distance at most R in $G \times L$. Then $\phi(e) \in G_R$ is one of only finitely many elements. There exists $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $e = t^n e_{\phi(e)}$. From the triangle inequality,

by elements. There exists $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $e = i e_{\phi(e)}$. From the triangle in $d_{-}(m, t^{n}m) \leq d_{-}(m, am) + d_{-}(t^{n}m) = m t^{n}m) \leq D + D$

$$d_L(x,t^n x) \leq \mathsf{d}_L(x,ex) + \mathsf{d}_L(t^n e_{\phi(e)}x,t^n x) \leq R+B.$$

Hence $|n| \leq (R + B + K)/K$, and so there are only finitely many such elements $e \in E$.

Coboundedness. Given $(g, y) \in G \times L$, there exists n such that $\mathsf{d}_L(t^n e_g x, y) \leq B$. Because $t \in \ker \phi$, we have $\phi(t^n e_g) = g$, so $t^n e_g$ moves (1, x) within distance B of (g, y).

This lemma gives hierarchically hyperbolic structures on Z-central extensions.

Proposition 5.9 (HHG central extensions). Let $\phi: E \to G$ be a \mathbb{Z} -central extension of an HHG (G, \mathfrak{S}) . Suppose E acts by isometries on a graph L that is quasi-isometric to \mathbb{R} . Suppose that $\tau_L(t) > 0$, where t generates ker ϕ . The group E admits an HHG structure (E, \mathfrak{S}_E) where

- \mathfrak{S}_E contains $\mathfrak{S} \sqcup \{A, S_E\}$, where S_E and A are two symbols not in \mathfrak{S} ;
- CA = L and CW is a point for all $W \in \mathfrak{S}_E (\mathfrak{S} \sqcup \{A\});$
- $A \perp U$ for all $U \in \mathfrak{S}$;
- $A \subsetneq S_E$ and $U \subsetneq S_E$ for all $U \in \mathfrak{S}$.

Moreover, E stabilises A, the induced action on CA is the given action on L, and $Big(t) = \{A\}$.

Proof. Equip \mathfrak{S} with all the same structure as in (G, \mathfrak{S}) , but define the projections from $E \to \mathcal{C}U$ for $U \in \mathfrak{S}$ by composing the projections $\pi_U \colon G \to \mathcal{C}U$ with $\phi \colon E \to G$. The projection $\pi_A \colon E \to \mathcal{C}A$ is an orbit map $E \to L$. The remaining projections are maps to one-point spaces.

By [BHS19, Prop. 8.27], \mathfrak{S}_E can be chosen so that $(G \times L, \mathfrak{S}_E)$ with the ℓ^1 -metric is an HHS and all the bullet points in the statement are satisfied. From the explicit description of this construction in [BR20a, Example 2.13], the set \mathfrak{S}_E consists of A, S_E, \mathfrak{S} , and an element V_U for each $U \in \mathfrak{S}$ except the \sqsubseteq -maximal element. The group E acts on \mathfrak{S} via the G-action and ϕ and we declare E to act on the set of V_U in the same way, and finally to fix A and S_E . Since the G-action on \mathfrak{S} is cofinite, the E-action on \mathfrak{S}_E is cofinite. It is easily verified that, with the diagonal action of E on $G \times L$, the equivariance conditions of an HHG are satisfied.

25

It remains to check that the action of E on $G \times L$ is proper and cobounded, but this is given by Lemma 5.8.

Now we assemble all of the ingredients:

Theorem 5.10. Let (G, \mathfrak{S}) be an HHG that is not quasi-isometric to the product of two unbounded spaces. Then every \mathbb{Z} -central extension $E \to G$ arising from a bounded class admits an HHG structure (E, \mathfrak{S}_E) such that E is not \mathfrak{S}_E -translation discrete.

Proof. By [PS20, Cor. 4.7 & Rem. 4.8], G is acylindrically hyperbolic or 2-ended. In either case, Corollary 5.5 provides a homogeneous quasimorphism $\hat{r}: E \to \mathbb{R}$ taking arbitrarily small positive values, with $\hat{r}(t) = 1$, where t generates ker(ϕ). Lemma 5.6 gives a quasiline L and an isometric E-action on L where τ_L takes arbitrarily small positive values on E but $\tau_L(t) > 0$.

According to Proposition 5.9, E admits an HHG structure (E, \mathfrak{S}_E) for which there exists $A \in \mathfrak{S}_E$ such that CA = L, and E fixes A, and the E-action on CA is exactly the action on L given above. In particular, $\tau_A(t) > 0$ and $\tau_A(e)$ takes arbitrarily small positive values as e varies in E. By Definition 5.1, E is thus not \mathfrak{S}_E -translation discrete. \Box

Remark 5.11. In the special case where G is not two-ended, and is hence acylindrically hyperbolic, the stronger statement in Corollary 5.5 gives an HHG structure (E, \mathfrak{S}) where the arbitrarily small translation lengths on the quasiline are witnessed by a sequence of elements $(\tilde{g}_i)_i$ in E whose images in G are loxodromic on the top-level hyperbolic space for the original HHG structure on G, and in fact there is a great deal of flexibility in choosing these \tilde{g}_i .

5.5. Questions on \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness

Theorem 1.4 provides many examples of HHGs (G, \mathfrak{S}) that are not \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete (Definition 5.1), but Example 5.2 illustrates that G may admit some other structure (G, \mathfrak{S}') that is \mathfrak{S}' -translation discrete. Hence:

Question 5.12. Does there exist a finitely generated group G such that G admits an HHG structure but does not admit an HHG structure that is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete?

Every hierarchically hyperbolic group (G, \mathfrak{S}) has a *coarse median structure* associated to \mathfrak{S} [BHS19, Bow13]. Distinct hierarchical structures can result in equivalent coarse median structures. In Example 5.2, however, the coarse median structures associated to each $\mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon}$ are all distinct. The example shows that changing the choice of ε can change whether the group is $\mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon}$ -translation discrete. Thus we ask:

Question 5.13. If (G, \mathfrak{S}) and (G, \mathfrak{S}') are hierarchically hyperbolic group structures with the same associated coarse median structure, is it the case that G is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete if and only if G is \mathfrak{S}' -translation discrete?

In the direction of finding \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete structures, one can ask the following.

Question 5.14. Let G be an acylindrically hyperbolic HHG, and let $\phi: E \to G$ be a \mathbb{Z} -central extension associated to a bounded cohomology class. When does E admit a homogeneous quasimorphism $\hat{r}: E \to \mathbb{R}$ such that \hat{r} is unbounded on ker (ϕ) , and $|\hat{r}(e)|$ does not take arbitrarily small positive values as e varies in E (we allow $\hat{r}(e) = 0$)?

Given such an \hat{r} , Proposition 5.9 produces an HHG structure \mathfrak{S} on E that is \mathfrak{S} -translation discrete provided G admits one. In light of [ANS⁺19], where special consideration is given to hierarchically hyperbolic groups coarsely having a \mathbb{Z} factor, one can also ask:

Question 5.15. Let E be a hierarchically hyperbolic group quasi-isometric to $\mathbb{Z} \times A$, with A an unbounded space, one of whose asymptotic cones has a cut-point. Must E contain a finite-index subgroup E' and a infinite-order element $t \in E'$ such that t is central in E' and $E'/\langle t \rangle$ is a hierarchically hyperbolic group?

A positive answer would show that, to strengthen the results in [ANS⁺19], \mathfrak{S} -translation discreteness is most interesting for central extensions.

It may be that central extensions alone aren't enough to answer Question 5.12. Perhaps there are more elaborate examples involving complexes of groups whose vertex groups are central extensions of HHGs, assembled so that a combination theorem as in [BHMS20] provides an HHG structure, but where the induced HHG structures on the vertex groups are forced to involve translation-indiscrete actions on quasilines; the graphs of groups in [HRSS22] might be a starting point.

References

- [AB95] Juan M. Alonso and Martin R. Bridson. Semihyperbolic groups. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 70(1):56–114, 1995. (Cited p. 2).
- [ABO19] Carolyn Abbott, Sahana H. Balasubramanya, and Denis Osin. Hyperbolic structures on groups. Algebr. Geom. Topol., 19(4):1747–1835, 2019. (Cited pp. 24 and 25).
- [ACGH19] Goulnara N. Arzhantseva, Christopher H. Cashen, Dominik Gruber, and David Hume. Negative curvature in graphical small cancellation groups. *Groups Geom. Dyn.*, 13(2):579–632, 2019. (Cited pp. 2 and 6).
- [Ali02] Emina Alibegović. Translation lengths in $Out(F_n)$. Geom. Dedicata, 92:87–93, 2002. Dedicated to John Stallings on the occasion of his 65^{th} birthday. (Cited p. 2).
- [ANS⁺19] Carolyn Abbott, Thomas Ng, Davide Spriano, Radhika Gupta, and Harry Petyt. Hierarchically hyperbolic groups and uniform exponential growth. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.00439*, 2019. With an appendix by Radhika Gupta and Harry Petyt. (Cited pp. 5, 26, and 27).
- [AT17] Tarik Aougab and Samuel J Taylor. Pseudo-anosovs optimizing the ratio of teichmüller to curve graph translation length. In *In the tradition of Ahlfors-Bers. VII*, pages 17–28, 2017. (Cited p. 4).
- [BBF19] Mladen Bestvina, Kenneth Bromberg, and Koji Fujiwara. The verbal width of acylindrically hyperbolic groups. *Algebr. Geom. Topol.*, 19(1):477–489, 2019. (Cited p. 23).
- [Beh06] Jason Behrstock. Asymptotic geometry of the mapping class group and Teichmüller space. *Geom. Topol.*, 10:1523–1578, 2006. (Cited p. 21).
- [BF21] Jonas Beyrer and Elia Fioravanti. Cross-ratios on cat (0) cube complexes and marked lengthspectrum rigidity. Journal of the London Mathematical Society, 104(5):1973–2015, 2021. (Cited p. 6).
- [BH99] Martin R. Bridson and André Haefliger. Metric spaces of non-positive curvature, volume 319 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999. (Cited pp. 2, 3, and 5).
- [BHMS20] Jason Behrstock, Mark Hagen, Alexandre Martin, and Alessandro Sisto. A combinatorial take on hierarchical hyperbolicity and applications to quotients of mapping class groups. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.00567*, 2020. (Cited pp. 4 and 27).
- [BHS17] Jason Behrstock, Mark Hagen, and Alessandro Sisto. Hierarchically hyperbolic spaces, I: Curve complexes for cubical groups. *Geom. Topol.*, 21(3):1731–1804, 2017. (Cited pp. 3, 4, 12, 20, and 21).
- [BHS19] Jason Behrstock, Mark Hagen, and Alessandro Sisto. Hierarchically hyperbolic spaces II: Combination theorems and the distance formula. *Pacific J. Math.*, 299(2):257–338, 2019. (Cited pp. 3, 4, 12, 13, 15, 21, 25, and 26).
- [BKMM12] Jason Behrstock, Bruce Kleiner, Yair N. Minsky, and Lee Mosher. Geometry and rigidity of mapping class groups. *Geom. Topol.*, 16(2):781–888, 2012. (Cited p. 21).
- [BM00] Marc Burger and Shahar Mozes. Lattices in product of trees. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., 92:151–194 (2001), 2000. (Cited p. 21).
- [Bow98] Brian H. Bowditch. Continuously many quasi-isometry classes of 2-generator groups. Comment. Math. Helv., 73(2):232–236, 1998. (Cited p. 23).

- [Bow08] Brian H. Bowditch. Tight geodesics in the curve complex. *Invent. Math.*, 171(2):281–300, 2008. (Cited pp. 2, 4, 6, 8, 20, and 21).
- [Bow13] Brian H. Bowditch. Coarse median spaces and groups. Pacific J. Math., 261(1):53–93, 2013. (Cited p. 26).
- [Bow20] Brian H. Bowditch. Median and injective metric spaces. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 168(1):43-55, 2020. (Cited p. 3).
- [BR20a] Federico Berlai and Bruno Robbio. A refined combination theorem for hierarchically hyperbolic groups. *Groups Geom. Dyn.*, 14(4):1127–1203, 2020. (Cited pp. 4 and 25).
- [BR20b] Daniel Berlyne and Jacob Russell. Hierarchical hyperbolicity of graph products. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2006.03085*, 2020. (Cited p. 4).
- [Bro81] Robert Brooks. Some remarks on bounded cohomology. In Riemann surfaces and related topics: Proceedings of the 1978 Stony Brook Conference, volume 97 of Ann. of Math. Stud., pages 53–63. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1981. (Cited p. 23).
- [Bro94] Kenneth S. Brown. Cohomology of groups, volume 87 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994. Corrected reprint of the 1982 original. (Cited p. 22).
- [BSS23] Hyungryul Baik, Donggyun Seo, and Hyunshik Shin. On the finiteness property of hyperbolic simplicial actions: the right-angled Artin groups and their extension graphs. *Geom. Dedicata*, 217(1):Paper No. 7, 29, 2023. (Cited p. 4).
- [But19] Jack Oliver Button. Aspects of non positive curvature for linear groups with no infinite order unipotents. *Groups Geom. Dyn.*, 13(1):277–292, 2019. (Cited pp. 2, 3, 5, and 11).
- [BW16] Mark C Bell and Richard CH Webb. Polynomial-time algorithms for the curve graph. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.09392*, 2016. (Cited p. 4).
- [Cal09] Danny Calegari. scl, volume 20 of MSJ Memoirs. Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 2009. (Cited pp. 22 and 23).
- [CCG⁺20] Jérémie Chalopin, Victor Chepoi, Anthony Genevois, Hiroshi Hirai, and Damian Osajda. Helly groups. arXiv preprint arXiv:2002.06895, 2020. (Cited p. 3).
- [Che22] Marissa Chesser. Stable subgroups of the genus 2 handlebody group. Algebr. Geom. Topol., 22(2):919–971, 2022. (Cited p. 4).
- [CHK22] Montserrat Casals-Ruiz, Mark Hagen, and Ilya Kazachkov. Real cubings and asymptotic cones of hierarchically hyperbolic groups. *Preprint available at https://www.wescac.net/cones.html*, 2022. (Cited pp. 5 and 12).
- [Con00a] Gregory R. Conner. Discreteness properties of translation numbers in solvable groups. J. Group Theory, 3(1):77–94, 2000. (Cited pp. 2 and 3).
- [Con00b] Gregory R. Conner. Translation numbers of groups acting on quasiconvex spaces. In Computational and geometric aspects of modern algebra (Edinburgh, 1998), volume 275 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 28–38. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2000. (Cited p. 2).
- [Del96] Thomas Delzant. Sous-groupes distingués et quotients des groupes hyperboliques. Duke Math. Jour., 83:661–682, 1996. (Cited p. 4).
- [Des16] Dominic Descombes. Asymptotic rank of spaces with bicombings. *Math. Z.*, 284(3-4):947–960, 2016. (Cited pp. 7 and 8).
- [DGO17] F. Dahmani, V. Guirardel, and D. Osin. Hyperbolically embedded subgroups and rotating families in groups acting on hyperbolic spaces. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 245(1156):v+152, 2017. (Cited pp. 21 and 23).
- [DHS17] Matthew Gentry Durham, Mark Hagen, and Alessandro Sisto. Boundaries and automorphisms of hierarchically hyperbolic spaces. *Geom. Topol.*, 21(6):3659–3758, 2017. (Cited pp. 3, 4, 13, and 20).
- [DHS20] Matthew Gentry Durham, Mark Hagen, and Alessandro Sisto. Correction to the article Boundaries and automorphisms of hierarchically hyperbolic spaces. *Geom. Topol.*, 24(2):1051–1073, 2020. (Cited pp. 3, 4, 5, 12, 13, 14, and 21).
- [DK18] Cornelia Druţu and Michael Kapovich. Geometric group theory, volume 63 of American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2018. With an appendix by Bogdan Nica. (Cited p. 2).
- [DL15] Dominic Descombes and Urs Lang. Convex geodesic bicombings and hyperbolicity. *Geom. Dedicata*, 177:367–384, 2015. (Cited p. 11).
- [DL16] Dominic Descombes and Urs Lang. Flats in spaces with convex geodesic bicombings. Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces, 4(1):68–84, 2016. (Cited pp. 5, 9, and 11).

- [Dre84] Andreas W. M. Dress. Trees, tight extensions of metric spaces, and the cohomological dimension of certain groups: a note on combinatorial properties of metric spaces. Adv. in Math., 53(3):321–402, 1984. (Cited p. 7).
- [EH99] Aziz Es-Sahib and Henri Heinich. Barycentre canonique pour un espace métrique à courbure négative. In Séminaire de Probabilités, XXXIII, volume 1709 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 355–370. Springer, Berlin, 1999. (Cited p. 7).
- [FM12] Benson Farb and Dan Margalit. A primer on mapping class groups, volume 49 of Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2012. (Cited pp. 21 and 22).
- [Fri17] Roberto Frigerio. Bounded cohomology of discrete groups, volume 227 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2017. (Cited p. 22).
- [FS20] Roberto Frigerio and Alessandro Sisto. Central extensions and bounded cohomology. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2003.01146*, 2020. (Cited p. 22).
- [Gen22] Anthony Genevois. Translation lengths in crossing and contact graphs of quasi-median graphs. arXiv preprint arXiv:2209.06441, 2022. (Cited pp. 4 and 6).
- [Ger92] S. M. Gersten. Bounded cocycles and combings of groups. Internat. J. Algebra Comput., 2(3):307– 326, 1992. (Cited p. 22).
- [Gro87] M. Gromov. Hyperbolic groups. In *Essays in group theory*, volume 8 of *Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ.*, pages 75–263. Springer, New York, 1987. (Cited pp. 2, 4, and 15).
- [GS91] S. M. Gersten and H. B. Short. Rational subgroups of biautomatic groups. Ann. of Math. (2), 134(1):125–158, 1991. (Cited p. 2).
- [GW71] Detlef Gromoll and Joseph A. Wolf. Some relations between the metric structure and the algebraic structure of the fundamental group in manifolds of nonpositive curvature. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 77:545–552, 1971. (Cited pp. 2 and 5).
- [Hae22] Thomas Haettel. A link condition for simplicial complexes, and cub spaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:2211.07857, 2022. (Cited p. 7).
- [Hag07] Frédéric Haglund. Isometries of CAT(0) cube complexes are semi-simple. arXiv preprint arXiv:0705.3386, 2007. (Cited p. 2).
- [Hag14] Mark Hagen. Weak hyperbolicity of cube complexes and quasi-arboreal groups. J. Topol., 7(2):385–418, 2014. (Cited p. 4).
- [HHP20] Thomas Haettel, Nima Hoda, and Harry Petyt. Coarse injectivity, hierarchical hyperbolicity, and semihyperbolicity. arXiv:2009.14053. To appear in Geom. Topol., 2020. (Cited pp. 3, 5, and 14).
- [HHP23] Thomas Haettel, Nima Hoda, and Harry Petyt. ℓ^p metrics on cell complexes. arXiv preprint arXiv:2302.03801, 2023. (Cited p. 7).
- [HMS21] Mark Hagen, Alexandre Martin, and Alessandro Sisto. Extra-large type Artin groups are hierarchically hyperbolic. arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.04387, 2021. (Cited pp. 4 and 22).
- [HO13] Michael Hull and Denis Osin. Induced quasicocycles on groups with hyperbolically embedded subgroups. *Algebr. Geom. Topol.*, 13(5):2635–2665, 2013. (Cited p. 24).
- [HO21a] Thomas Haettel and Damian Osajda. Locally elliptic actions, torsion groups, and nonpositively curved spaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:2110.12431, 2021. (Cited p. 2).
- [HO21b] Jingyin Huang and Damian Osajda. Helly meets Garside and Artin. Invent. Math., 225(2):395–426, 2021. (Cited p. 2).
- [HRSS22] Mark Hagen, Jacob Russell, Alessandro Sisto, and Davide Spriano. Equivariant hierarchically hyperbolic structures for 3-manifold groups via quasimorphisms. arXiv preprint arXiv:2206.12244, 2022. (Cited pp. 3, 4, 5, 22, 25, and 27).
- [HS20] Mark Hagen and Tim Susse. On hierarchical hyperbolicity of cubical groups. Israel J. Math., 236(1):45–89, 2020. (Cited p. 4).
- [Hug22] Sam Hughes. Lattices in a product of trees, hierarchically hyperbolic groups and virtual torsion-freeness. *Bull. Lond. Math. Soc.*, 54(4):1413–1419, 2022. (Cited p. 21).
- [HW75] G. H. Hardy and E. M. Wright. An introduction to the theory of numbers. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, fourth edition, 1975. (Cited p. 11).
- [HW08] Frédéric Haglund and Daniel T. Wise. Special cube complexes. Geom. Funct. Anal., 17(5):1551– 1620, 2008. (Cited p. 4).
- [KB02] Ilya Kapovich and Nadia Benakli. Boundaries of hyperbolic groups. In Combinatorial and geometric group theory, volume 296 of Contemp. Math., pages 39–93. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2002. (Cited p. 15).

- [KK13] Sang-Hyun Kim and Thomas Koberda. Embedability between right-angled Artin groups. *Geom. Topol.*, 17(1):493–530, 2013. (Cited p. 4).
- [KK14] Sang-Hyun Kim and Thomas Koberda. The geometry of the curve graph of a right-angled Artin group. *Internat. J. Algebra Comput.*, 24(2):121–169, 2014. (Cited p. 4).
- [KL09] Bruce Kleiner and Bernhard Leeb. Induced quasi-actions: a remark. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 137(5):1561–1567, 2009. (Cited p. 25).
- [Lan13] Urs Lang. Injective hulls of certain discrete metric spaces and groups. J. Topol. Anal., 5(3):297–331, 2013. (Cited pp. 3, 7, 8, and 15).
- [LY72] H. Blaine Lawson, Jr. and Shing Tung Yau. Compact manifolds of nonpositive curvature. J. Differential Geometry, 7:211–228, 1972. (Cited p. 5).
- [Man06] J. F. Manning. Quasi-actions on trees and property (QFA). J. London Math. Soc. (2), 73(1):84–108, 2006. With an appendix by N. Monod and B. Rémy. (Cited pp. 6 and 25).
- [Man13] Johanna Mangahas. A recipe for short-word pseudo-Anosovs. Amer. J. Math., 135(4):1087–1116, 2013. (Cited p. 4).
- [Min02] Igor Mineyev. Bounded cohomology characterizes hyperbolic groups. Q. J. Math., 53(1):59–73, 2002. (Cited p. 4).
- [MM99] Howard A. Masur and Yair N. Minsky. Geometry of the complex of curves. I. Hyperbolicity. *Invent. Math.*, 138(1):103–149, 1999. (Cited p. 21).
- [MM00] Howard A. Masur and Yair N. Minsky. Geometry of the complex of curves. II. Hierarchical structure. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 10(4):902–974, 2000. (Cited p. 21).
- [Nav13] Andrés Navas. An L^1 ergodic theorem with values in a non-positively curved space via a canonical barycenter map. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 33(2):609–623, 2013. (Cited p. 7).
- [Pet22] Harry Petyt. On the large-scale geometry of mapping class groups. PhD thesis, University of Bristol, 2022. (Cited pp. 7 and 8).
- [PS20] Harry Petyt and Davide Spriano. Unbounded domains in hierarchically hyperbolic groups. arXiv:2007.12535. To appear in Groups Geom. Dyn., 2020. (Cited pp. 12, 13, and 26).
- [PSZ22] Harry Petyt, Davide Spriano, and Abdul Zalloum. Hyperbolic models for CAT(0) spaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:2207.14127, 2022. (Cited p. 6).
- [RS20] Bruno Robbio and Davide Spriano. Hierarchical hyperbolicity of hyperbolic-2-decomposable groups. arXiv preprint arXiv:2007.13383, 2020. (Cited p. 4).
- [RST22] Jacob Russell, Davide Spriano, and Hung Cong Tran. The local-to-global property for Morse quasigeodesics. *Math. Z.*, 300(2):1557–1602, 2022. (Cited p. 6).
- [Ser03] Jean-Pierre Serre. Trees. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003. Translated from the French original by John Stillwell, Corrected 2nd printing of the 1980 English translation. (Cited p. 2).
- [She22] Sam Shepherd. A cubulation with no factor system. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2208.10421*, 2022. (Cited p. 4).
- [Ste85] Juris Steprans. A characterization of free abelian groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 93(2):347–349, 1985. (Cited p. 11).
- [Swe95] Eric L Swenson. Hyperbolic elements in negatively curved groups. *Geometriae Dedicata*, 55:199–210, 1995. (Cited p. 4).
- [TV00] Simon Thomas and Boban Velickovic. Asymptotic cones of finitely generated groups. Bull. London Math. Soc., 32(2):203–208, 2000. (Cited p. 23).
- [Wis07] Daniel T. Wise. Complete square complexes. Comment. Math. Helv., 82(4):683–724, 2007. (Cited p. 21).
- [Zal23] Abdul Zalloum. Effective rank rigidity. *Preprint*, 2023. (Cited pp. 5 and 21).

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, BRANDEIS UNIVERSITY, WALTHAM, MA USA *Email address:* carolynabbott@brandeis.edu

School of Mathematics, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom $\mathit{Email}\ address: \texttt{markfhagen@posteo.net}$

MATHEMATICAL INSTITUTE, UNIVERSITY OF OXFORD, UK *Email address*: petyt@maths.ox.ac.uk

MATHEMATICS DEPARTMENT, 40 ST. GEORGE STREET, UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO, TORONTO, CANADA *Email address*: abdul.zalloum@utoronto.ca